European Commission
EXPERT PANEL ON EFFECTIVE WAYS OF INVESTING IN HEALTH
(EXPH)
Future EU Agenda on quality of health care with a special
emphasis on patient safety
The EVDU enpressed this entries for sublic consultation
The EXPH approved this opinion for public consultation at the 6 <sup>th</sup> plenary meeting of 10 July 2014
at the oppendig meeting of 10 July 2014

#### 31 About the Expert Panel on effective ways of investing in Health (EXPH) Sound and timely scientific advice is an essential requirement for the Commission to 32 33 pursue modern, responsive and sustainable health systems. To this end, the Commission 34 has set up a multidisciplinary and independent Expert Panel which provides advice on 35 effective ways of investing in health (Commission Decision 2012/C 198/06). 36 37 The core element of the Expert Panel's mission is to provide the Commission with sound 38 and independent advice in the form of opinions in response to questions (mandates) 39 submitted by the Commission on matters related to health care modernisation, 40 responsiveness, and sustainability. The advice does not bind the Commission. 41 42 The areas of competence of the Expert Panel include, and are not limited to, primary 43 care, hospital care, pharmaceuticals, research and development, prevention and 44 promotion, links with the social protection sector, cross-border issues, system financing, 45 information systems and patient registers, health inequalities, etc. 46 47 **Expert Panel members** 48 Pedro Barros, Margaret Barry, Helmut Brand, Werner Brouwer, Jan De Maeseneer 49 (Chair), Bengt Jönsson (Vice-Chair), Fernando Lamata, Lasse Lehtonen, Dorjan Marušič, 50 Martin McKee, Walter Ricciardi, Sarah Thomson 51 52 Contact 53 European Commission 54 DG Health & Consumers 55 Directorate D: Health Products and Systems 56 Unit D3 – eHealth and Health Technology Assessment 57 Office: B232 B-1049 Brussels 58 SANCO-EXPERT-PANEL@ec.europa.eu 59 60

62	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
63	
64	Members of the Working Group are acknowledged for their valuable contribution to this
65	opinion.
66	
67	The members of the Working Group are:
68	
69	Expert Panel members
70	
71	Professor Werner Brouwer
72	Professor Jan De Maeseneer
73	Dr Fernando Lamata
74	Professor Lasse Lehtonen (Chair)
75	Dr Dorjan Marušič
76	Professor Martin McKee
77	Professor Walter Ricciardi (Rapporteur)
78	
79	
80	External experts
81	
82	Dr Malgorzata Bala
83	Mrs Nicola Bedlington
84	Dr David Somekh
85	
86	Dr Jean Bacou
87	Dr Elena Azzolini
88	Dr Marta Marino
89	Dr Alessio Santoro
90	Dr Andrea Silenzi
91	Drs Amelie Van Pottelberge
92	
93	
94	The declarations of the Working Group members are available at:
95	http://ec.europa.eu/health/expert panel/experts/working groups/index en.htm
96	

# **ABSTRACT**

98	The Expert Panel on Effective ways of Investing in Health (EXPH) was asked to provide				
99	an opinion on a possible future EU agenda on quality of health care with a special				
100	emphasis on patient safety. Specifically, the EXPH was asked:				
101	• to consider the core dimensions of quality of health care, including patient safety in				
102	the EU;				
103	• to define the dimensions that should be given priority at EU level in order to improve				
104	quality of health care as well as the actions that could be taken at EU level to address				
105	the selected dimensions;				
106	<ul> <li>to demonstrate what would be the added value of proposed EU actions;</li> </ul>				
107	• to specify what information is needed to assess quality and safety of health care in				
108	the EU.				
109					
110	The EXPH opinion emerges from and relies on the main findings from a literature review,				
111	jointly carried out with the European Commission, as well as from the evaluation of the				
112	former EU projects on quality/safety within the Framework Programs 5, 6, and 7.				
113					
114	The EXPH identified a subset of commonly accepted dimensions of quality/safety				
115	applicable to all health services, which should be prioritized at EU level. Indeed,				
116	regardless of the level of health care provided, all services have to be effective, safe,				
117	appropriate, patient-centred, efficient and equitable. With regard to the information				
118	needed to assess quality and safety of health care in the EU, the EXPH highlight a subset				
119	of indicators potentially suitable to quantify these quality/safety core dimensions.				
120					
121	In addition, the EXPH acknowledges that the EU Commission could play a crucial role in				
122	boosting actions to be taken at EU level aimed at improving the quality of health care				
123	and the safety of patients. The actions proposed cover:				
124	• the utilisation of a comprehensive conceptual framework in relation to quality and				
125	safety;				
126	• guideline development and the interprofessional sharing of good practices;				
127	<ul> <li>funding research related to quality and safety;</li> </ul>				
128	<ul> <li>economic issues related to the defined quality dimensions;</li> </ul>				
129	• education and training in relation to the new roles of both patients and health				
130	professionals;				
131	<ul> <li>information technology and information systems significant for health quality and</li> </ul>				
132	safety;				
133	<ul> <li>quality and safety aspects of the burden of chronic diseases and inequalities in</li> </ul>				
134	health;				
135	<ul> <li>the HTA network, and increasing attention on Health System Impact Assessment;</li> </ul>				
136	<ul> <li>miscellaneous recommendations.</li> </ul>				
137					

138	The EXPH considers that undertaking such actions Euro	pe-wide would yield financial and
139	social benefits and would fit with the context of the	recent EU actions against health
140	inequalities, both in between and within countries.	
141 142 143 144 145 146	Keywords: EXPH, Expert Panel on effective ways of investion	sting in Health, scientific opinion,
147	patient safety, quality of care, EU agenda	
148		
149		
150	Opinion to be cited as:	
151	Expert Panel on effective ways of investing in Health (EX	(PH), Preliminary report on
152	Future EU Agenda on quality of health care with a specia	al emphasis on patient safety, 10
153	July 2014	
154		
155		
156		
157		
158		
159		
160		
161		
162		
163		
164		
165	© European Union, 2014	
166	ISSN 2315-1404	ISBN 978-92-79-38381-6
167	doi:10.2772/33120	ND-BA-14-003-EN-N
168		
169	The opinions of the Expert Panel present the views of the	ne independent scientists who are
170	members of the Expert Panel. They do not necessarily	reflect the views of the European
171	Commission. The opinions are published by the Europea	n Union in their original language
172	only.	
173		
174	http://ec.europa.eu/health/expert_panel/index_en.htm	
175		

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1	7	7
т	1	/

178	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
179	ABSTRACT
180	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
181	1. TERMS OF REFERENCE
182	2. BACKGROUND
183	3. OPINION
184	3.1 FRAMEWORK AND DEFINITION
185 186 187	3.1.1 Quality of Care and Patient Safety: Conceptual Framework13 3.1.2 A proposal to define the quality of health services
188	3.2 CORE DIMENSIONS FOR QUALITY SERVICES IN HEALTH CARE23
189 190	3.3 EFFICIENCY AND EQUITY40
191 192	3.4 QUALITY OF CARE IN THE CONTEXT OF CROSS-BORDER CARE IN EUROPE48
193 194 195	3.4.1 Legal framework483.4.2 Elements of health care50
196 197	3.5 INFORMATION NEEDED. ASSESSING QUALITY INDICATORS60
197 198 199	3.6 PROPOSED ACTIONS AT EU LEVEL
200	3.7 ADDED VALUE OF PROPOSED ACTIONS AT EU LEVEL73
201 202	4. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS76
203	5. REFERENCES79
204	6. GLOSSARY94
205	ANNEXES
206 207	
208	
209	

#### 210 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

211 The Expert Panel on Effective ways of Investing in Health (EXPH) was asked to provide 212 an opinion on a possible future EU agenda on quality of health care with a special 213 emphasis on patient safety. Recently, the issue of health care quality and patient safety 214 has become a key priority at EU level, particularly in the light of the Directive of the 215 European Parliament and the Council of the European Union on the application of 216 patients' rights in cross-border health care (Directive 2011/24/EU), entitling patients to 217 seek treatment abroad and, in turn, raising concerns about their safety and on the 218 quality of care.

219

The EXPH opinion relies on scientific evidence (a literature review was carried out jointly with the European Commission) and on the former EU projects on quality/safety (an evaluation of the projects of the FP 5, 6, and 7 was conducted).

223

224 The EXPH opinion emerges from both Donabedian's and the "Institute of Medicine"'s 225 (IOM) definitions of quality of care, respectively defined as the "kind of care which is 226 expected to maximize an inclusive measure of patient welfare, after one has taken 227 account of the balance of expected gains and losses that attend the process of care in all 228 its parts" and as "the degree to which health services for individuals and populations 229 increase the likelihood of desired health outcomes and are consistent with current 230 professional knowledge". In order to provide its opinion, the EXPH considered health care 231 quality and patients' safety in the light of the so-called "Donabedian's triangle", 232 consisting of a framework for measuring quality by assessing elements of structure or 233 process with proven connections to key outcomes of interest. The resulting complex 234 framework of health care quality and patients' safety reflects, in turn, the extreme 235 variability of their core dimensions at the nano-, micro-, meso- and macro-level. It was 236 challenging for the EXPH to identify commonly accepted dimensions of quality of services 237 applicable to the broad set of services, ranging from promotion/prevention services to 238 palliative services as well as primary care services, hospital services, emergency 239 services, and long-term care; eventually, five core dimensions were identified. Indeed, 240 regardless from the level of health care provided, all services have to be:

241 1. Effective, and improve health outcomes;

242 2. Safe, and prevent avoidable harm related with care;

243 3. Appropriate, and comply with current medical knowledge as well as meeting244 agreed standards;

245 4. Patient-centred, and involve patients/people as key partners in the process of246 care;

2475.Efficient and equitable, and lead to the best value for the money spent and to248equal access to available care for equal need, utilization and equal quality of care for all.

249

250 An additional key step of the mandate of the EXPH was to identify a subset of indicators 251 which could measure and quantify the "amount" of health care quality and patients' 252 safety in the light of the fore-mentioned framework. The relative importance of each 253 indicator is a political issue for each Member State, but they could help both decision 254 makers and patients to compare various systems. Furthermore, the importance of a 255 single indicator may change over time as the health system develops. It should be 256 highlighted that the quality/safety indicators have been identified according to the criteria 257 for good indicators suggested by Mainz. A good indicator should be based on agreed 258 definitions, and it should also be described exclusively and exhaustively; it should be 259 highly specific and sensitive, valid and reliable; it should discriminate well and be related 260 to clearly identifiable events for the user; it also should permit useful comparisons and be 261 evidence-based. The selection of such indicators is crucial to measure, evaluate and compare EU health care systems from a quality/safety perspective. This will be reflected, 262 263 in turn, in promoting the accountability, informing effective policy development, and 264 fostering cross-learning at EU level.

265

266 The EXPH acknowledged that the EU Commission could play a crucial role in boosting the 267 improvement of the quality of health care and the safety of patients. A list of actions to 268 be taken at EU level is proposed with the aim of improving the delivery of safe and high-269 quality services. The EXPH proposes the establishment of a "EU Health Care Quality 270 Board" for the coordination of all EU initiatives in health care quality as well as the 271 establishment of a "Health System Performance Analysis Framework" at EU level to 272 facilitate comparison across health policies and their impact; additionally, it suggests that 273 the EU initiates a process leading to the drafting of recommendation on health care 274 quality. The EXPH recognises the importance of allocating more funds to research 275 activities aimed at investigating the possible strategies to scale up the resilience of health 276 systems to promptly respond to upcoming challenges. Moreover, it is suggested that EU 277 countries share knowledge through the implementation of an HTA network, looking at 278 technologies, health care processes and health system impact assessment, in order to 279 avoid the duplication of efforts. Further, the EXPH acknowledges the importance of 280 information technology/systems encouraging blame-free reporting-related activities; 281 within this framework, the development of EU surveillance systems should be fostered. 282 Eventually, EU should promote/work towards a Europe-wide health education program 283 encompassing health literacy, patient safety and health care and addressed towards a 284 patient-centred approach.

The EXPH considers that these actions could lead to the delivery of high quality and safe health care services as well as being beneficial to cost containment across Member States.

289	1	. TERM	IS OF REFERENCE
290			
291	The	Expert I	Panel on Effective ways of Investing in Health is requested to give its views
292	on a	possib	le future EU agenda on quality of health care with a special emphasis on
293	patie	ent safe	ty. The opinion of the Expert Panel should take into account previous and
294	ongo	ing EU a	activities on patient safety and quality of care. In particular, the Expert Panel
295	is re	quested	:
296			
297	1.	То со	onsider the core dimensions of quality of health care, including patient safety
298	in th	e Europ	ean Union.
299	2.	To de	efine within this:
300		0	dimensions that should be given priority at EU level in order to improve
301			quality of health care;
302		0	actions that could be taken at EU level to address the selected dimensions.
303	3.	To de	emonstrate what would be the added value of proposed EU actions.
304	4.	To sp	pecify what information is needed to assess quality and safety of health care
305	in th	e EU.	
306			
307	Addi	tionally,	the Expert Panel is requested to reflect on how the effectiveness of EU
308	polic	y in the	area of quality and safety of health care could be evaluated.
309			
310			
311			
312			
313			
314			
315			

#### 316 **2. BACKGROUND**

### 317

Quality of health care, and in particular a key dimension – patient safety – has been
addressed at EU level by various initiatives, including quality and safety of blood, tissues
and organs, quality, safety and efficacy of medicines, medical devices, cancer screening,
health professionals and patients' rights in cross-border health care.

322

In 2009 patient safety was addressed at EU level in an explicit manner, through the adoption of an overarching strategy on patient safety in the form of a Council Recommendation. Two years later the Cross-Border Health Care Directive included a series of provisions on quality and safety agenda.

327

The Commission Patient Safety and Quality of Care Working Group (PSQCWG), brings together representatives from all EU countries, EFTA countries, international organisations and EU bodies. The Group assists in developing the EU patient and quality agenda.

332

The Commission has been supporting the implementation of these provisions through funding research projects, supporting data collection and coordinating exchanges of best practice. However, most of these activities are time-limited and will end within a year or two. Thus, there is a major question about the continuity of patient safety and quality activities at EU level.

338

Regulation (EU) nº 1025/2012 of the European Parliament and the Council of 25 October
2012 on European standardization could give support to the process of definition of
standards in the field of health care.

342

A number of documents on patient safety and quality in the EU have just been published:

Special Eurobarometer 411 on patient safety and quality of care (June 2014): a
 survey of nearly 28,000 residents in the 28 MS to determine: perceptions of and
 information about the quality of health care; perceived likelihood of being harmed
 by health care services; experience of adverse events; information on patient
 safety and awareness regarding redress in their own country or another MS.

Report on public consultation on EU action on quality of care and patient safety
 (July 2014): an on-line survey of stakeholder groups examining barriers to
 implementation of the Council recommendation, support for areas of action to
 improve PS identified by the EC and raising different issues not or not sufficiently
 covered by the Recommendation, including health workforce issues.

355 356 The second report from the Commission to Council (June 2014) (on implementation of the Recommendation) Com(2014)371 final: this updates and reviews progress since the first implementation report, Com(2012)658.

357

358 The EXPH opinion relies on the scientific evidence on quality of health care and patient 359 safety retrieved, through a rigorous but practical approach, from both a literature review, 360 carried out with the support of the European Commission, and the EU/MSs projects 361 conducted within the Framework Programs 5, 6, 7 which focused on quality/safety. This 362 approach has been followed in order to pursue the task of defining the priority 363 dimensions and addressing the EU actions to boost health care quality. Following the so-364 called Donabedian triangle, the opinion has been drafted focusing on the structure, 365 process and outcome framework of health care quality, classified across the four different 366 levels of health care systems (macro, meso, micro and nano), and extensively enriched 367 by a substantial orientation towards the patient perspective. In addition, five quality 368 dimensions have been taken into account and proposed (effectiveness, safety, 369 appropriateness, person/patient-centredness, and efficiency/equity) together with a 370 subset of indicators necessary to measure them. In providing its point of view on the 371 possible future EU agenda, the EXPH aims at bridging the gaps between the scientific 372 approach, the actual situation in EU MSs, and the political decision-making processes, 373 through a comprehensive, up-to-date and accessible document.

374

#### 376 **3. OPINION**

377

## 3.1 FRAMEWORK AND DEFINITION

378

The Expert Panel understands high quality health care as health care that uses the available and appropriate resources in an efficient way to equitably contribute to the improvement of the health of the populations and patients. This implies that provision of care is consistent with current professional knowledge, focuses on the needs and goals of individuals, their families and communities, prevents and avoid harm related to care, and involves persons/patients as key partners in the process of care.

385

#### **3.1.1 Quality of Care and Patient Safety: Conceptual Framework**

Figure 1 shows the complex picture of determinants of quality, starting from the 386 Donabedian-triangle of structure, process and outcome (Donabedian, 1988), specified in 387 388 Table 1 using four operational levels: macro, meso, micro and nano, to classify the 389 indicators of quality of care. The nano-level is seen as the single patient-provider-390 interaction level, whereas the micro-level contains indicators of quality that occur in the 391 (interdisciplinary) collaboration between health care providers. The meso-level is the 392 place where policies and organisations operate that support these collaborations. Health 393 care system characteristics as indicators for quality are observed at the macro-level.



Lancet 2003)

	STRUCTURE	PROCESS	OUTCOME
MACRO	<ul> <li>Policies and regulations concerning organisation of health care system</li> <li>Policies and regulations concerning financing of the health care system (solidarity)</li> <li>Payment system</li> <li>Economic situation (income per capita, Ginicoefficient)</li> <li>Public revenue (solidarity)</li> <li>Other non-medical determinants (history, demography, housing,)</li> <li>Availability (geographical, national,)</li> <li>Coordination (gate-keeping)</li> <li>Universality, population covered: universal health coverage</li> <li>Affordability</li> <li>Organisational accessibility and distribution</li> <li>Equity in financing (PC, SC, TC)</li> <li>Research on health systems</li> <li>Appropriate institutions for health professional education</li> </ul>	-Availability of norms and standards -Availability of and access to health related information -availability of guidelines and implementation-strategies -research on health services delivery, HTA,	-Health equity -Effectiveness: avoiding premature mortality, enhancing quality of life, recovering from ill health -Efficiency -Sustainability -Patient satisfaction with health system -Health indicators -Patient safety indicators
MESO	-Coordination (integration of PC and SC) -Availability of well-equipped services	-Continuity (informational and organisational continuity of care with secondary care)	-Quality of referral and discharge
MICRO	-Coordination (collaboration with other providers) -Equity in accessibility (no risk selection)	-Continuity (informational continuity of care within PC,) -Accountability/ responsiveness -Coordination (referral PC to SC)	-Quality and integration of care: symptoms, satisfaction, medical parameters
NANO	-Competence and empathy of HP-Health Literacy of the patient-Education of HP-Organisational accessibility-Cultural accessibility and sensitivity-Comprehensiveness (availability of equipment,)	-Communication -Clinical decision-making -Patient empowerment -Patient safety -Continuity (availability of medical information, medical record keeping,) -Longitudinally	-Effectiveness and appropriateness -Patient safety indicators

397 Notes: This grid illustrates that different indicators in relation to structure, process and outcome may be situated at different levels

398

**Table 1: Aspects of quality of care and patient safety** 

401 **Structure** consists of three interrelated components: society, the health care system 402 and the individual (De Maeseneer et al., 2003). Society, at the macro-level, presents a so-called epidemiological community, characterized in terms of morbidity, socio-403 404 economic status, employment, housing and other variables; a cultural community (an 405 anthropological frame of reference); a support community with formal, informal and 406 professional networks; and a legal framework. For the health care system, policies and regulations concerning the organisation and financing of the system 407 (accessibility, availability, referral, universality, affordability, financing system, 408 409 payment system,...) are considered on the macro-level (Van Weel, 2001; Starfield et 410 al., 2005; Bhat, 2005; Gross et al., 2000; Verhaak et al., 2004). Coordination 411 characteristics such as integration of primary and secondary care are considered at 412 the meso-level (Gruen et al., 2003; Stille et al., 2005); patient- and people centred 413 collaboration between health care providers at the micro-level (Ashworth & Armstrong, 2006; Xyrichis & Lowton, 2008). At last, the nano-level contains 414 415 characteristics of health care providers such as education (CEC, 2008), clinical, technical and communicative competence and empathy. At the level of the individual, 416 417 knowledge (about the functioning of the body), skills (coping, self-care) and attitudes 418 (health perceptions and health beliefs), all influenced by the educational system, 419 affect clinical care. Additionally, bio-psychological characteristics of the patient (e.g., 420 genome,...) will determine the final outcome. The complex determinants identified 421 above illustrate that for the citizen, quality is as much dependent on the socio-422 cultural context and subjective phenomena as it is on the criteria defined by the 423 medical sciences or from cost effectiveness calculations.

424 **Process** refers to all interventions and interaction between patients and providers. 425 Process quality largely depends on adequate communication, medical decisionmaking, patient safety, care management and patient empowerment at the nano-426 427 level. Referral from primary to secondary care and informational continuity of care 428 within the same level of care – for example within primary care – are relevant at the 429 micro-level (Starfield et al., 2001, 2005). Informational and organisational continuity 430 between different levels of care, is considered at the meso-level. Availability of norms 431 and standards, health related information, guidelines and implementation-strategies 432 are found at the macro-level, in addition to research on health services design and 433 delivery, HTA,... Structure and process are inextricably linked in continuous 434 interaction. Quality of communication between patients and doctors, for instance, will 435 be determined not only by the skills of the doctor but also by patients' characteristics (eg, health beliefs) and by community characteristics (e.g., importance of integration 436 437 of cultural-anthropological factors in communication with migrant populations). 438 Medical decision-making will interact with the patient's expectations and beliefs (e.g.,

439 it is difficult to make clear to a patient who has unrealistic faith in medical technology 440 that a CT scan is not needed for the diagnosis of acute sinusitis). Both structure and 441 process will contribute to the final outcome. Conversely, quality of communication 442 may be adversely affected if the clinician focuses solely on the symptomatic 443 treatment of the patient (particularly in those with chronic conditions), as their 444 condition often affects them in many spheres of their lives and interaction with a 445 clinician who shows that they have failed to recognise this, is bound therefore to be 446 less effective.

447 **Outcome** will be assessed in the framework of the paradigm in use. In recent years, 448 as a consequence of the demographic and epidemiological transitions towards chronic 449 care and multi-morbidity, a paradigm shift has taken place from disease-orientation 450 to goal-orientation (Mold et al., 1991). This consideration results in a range of 451 relevant outcome indicators that can be measured (at the nano- and micro-level), 452 from signs and symptoms, physical parameters (e.g., blood pressure, blood glucose, 453 peak-flow), quality of life (functional status) (Scholten et al., 1992), patient's 454 satisfaction, (Wensing & Grol, 2000), responsiveness, appropriateness and 455 effectiveness. Quality of referral and discharge is observed at the meso-level.

At the macro-level, we consider some more indicators, such as efficiency, equity, effectiveness (e.g., avoiding premature mortality, enhancing quality of life, recovering from ill health). In figure 1 and table 1, we emphasize the complexity of the different components of quality and the picture is certainly incomplete. The underlying concept is that linear mechanistic approaches are not able to guide quality improvement and that the complexity requires a circular approach.

462

463 Clinical decisions to improve quality of patients' care must be made with a good 464 knowledge of the biomedical approach to the disease (*medical evidence*), but at the 465 same time they must take into account patient-specific aspects of medical care 466 (*contextual evidence*) and efficiency, equity, and rationing (*policy evidence*) (De 467 Maeseneer et al., 2003).

468 *Contextual evidence* (van Weel, 2001) is necessary to assist doctors to address the 469 challenge of how to treat a particular patient in a specific situation (van Driel et al., 470 2001). This need refers back to the principles of good doctor-patient communication to 471 create trusting interpersonal relationships, exchange of pertinent information and 472 negotiation of treatment-related decisions (Ong et al., 1995).

The health-policy environment determines every meeting of doctors and their patients 473 474 and therefore there is a need to enrich practice with more *policy evidence*, which entails 475 efficiency, equity and rationing. Achievement of individual evidence-based treatment 476 benefits in itself not the final word for promotion of that treatment for all patients. 477 Integration of equity and solidarity into decisions enhances understanding of how choices 478 stimulate or impede best practice for all patients. This act enhances transparency of 479 clinical performance. Regulations such as the presence or absence of gatekeeping, 480 reimbursement and payment, regulations for advertising of medicines and continuing 481 medical education have an effect on doctors' and patients' behavior, which goes beyond 482 the limits of the health care system. Figure 2 shows how improving quality of practice 483 needs integration of conclusions from the three types of evidence.



485



486 487

Figure 2: Three types of evidence to improve quality (adapted from De 488 489 Maeseneer et al., Lancet 2003)

490

491

493 494

#### 3.1.2 A proposal to define the quality of health services

In the public consultation carried out by the Commission one of the proposed actions at
EU level was "developing a common definition of quality of care" (BEREC, 2014).

In the 2010 Reflection Paper "Quality of Health care: policy actions at EU level", addressed to the Council Working Party on Public Health at Senior Level, one of the objectives was: "to agree on a definition of health care quality and on dimensions of health care quality that should be addressed at MS and EU levels. The proposed common understanding of quality should take into account the following dimensions: safety, clinical outcomes and patient involvement" (European Commission, 2010)<sup>1</sup>.

503 Accordingly, the Expert Panel has been requested to consider the core dimensions of 504 quality of health care, including patient safety, in the European Union.

505 Several definitions of quality of care have been developed over the years:

The Reflection Paper of 2010 uses the following definition: "health care that is effective, safe and responds to the needs and preference of patients. Other dimensions of quality of care, such as efficiency, access and equity are seen as being part of a wider debate and are being addressed in other fora".

The European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies reviewed the most frequently used definitions on quality of care in their paper "Assuring the Quality of Health Care in the European Union" (2008). One definition commonly used was proposed by IOM (1990): "Quality of care is the degree to which health services for individuals and populations increase the likelihood of desired health outcomes (effectiveness) and are consistent with current professional knowledge (appropriateness)".

516 Other authors or institutions included more/different dimensions:

517 Donabedian (1980) timeliness; Council of Europe (1998) safety; WHO (2000) 518 responsiveness to legitimate non-health expectations of the population, etc.

519 There are different valid definitions depending on the purpose and the organisation 520 responsible to choose the dimensions to be included and/or highlighted. At the same time 521 the Expert Panel is aware that, as societies and health systems change, the definition of 522 high quality health care will change.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The commission reflection paper is included in the Council document no. 9366/1/10 of 21 March 2010: <u>http://register.consilium.europa.eu/doc/srv?l=EN&f=ST%209366%202010%20REV%201</u>

524 Table 2 provides an overview of the most frequently applied definitions of quality of care, as identified in the literature. These definitions demarcate the boundaries of quality, 525 526 while a second set of definitions, presented below, more clearly distinguishes the various 527 dimensions of the concept.

528

#### 529 Table 2: Definitions of quality of care

530

Author/Organisation	Definition
Donabedian (1980)	Quality of care is the kind of care which is
	expected to maximize an inclusive measure of
	patient welfare, after one has taken account of
	the balance of expected gains and losses that
	attend the process of care in all its parts.
IOM (1990)	Quality of care is the degree to which health
	services for individuals and populations increase
	the likelihood of desired health outcomes and
	are consistent with current professional
	knowledge.
Department of Health (UK) (1997)	Quality of care is:
	<ul> <li>doing the right things (what)</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>to the right people (to whom)</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>at the right time (when)</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>and doing things right first time.</li> </ul>
Council of Europe (1998)	Quality of care is the degree to which the
	treatment dispensed increases the patient's
	chances of achieving the desired results and
	diminishes the chances of undesirable results,
	having regard to the current state of
	knowledge.
WHO (2000)	Quality of care is the level of attainment of
	health systems' intrinsic goals for health
	improvement and responsiveness to legitimate
	expectations of the population.
EC (2010)	Health care that is effective, safe and responds
	to the needs and preference of patients. Other
	dimensions of quality of care, such as efficiency,

access and equity are seen as being part of a wider debate and are being addressed in other

531

Notes: IOM: Institute of Medicine; WHO: World Health Organisation; EC: European Commission

fora".

534 The definitions put forward by Donabedian and by the Institute of Medicine (IOM) have 535 been particularly influential. Thus, Donabedian defined quality as "the ability to achieve 536 desirable objectives using legitimate means", while quality of care was defined as "that 537 kind of care which is expected to maximize an inclusive measure of patient welfare, after 538 one has taken account of the balance of expected gains and losses that attend the 539 process of care in all its parts" (Donabedian, 1980). He argued that before assessing 540 quality of care it is necessary to define whether monetary cost should enter the definition 541 of quality. He thus distinguished a "maximalist" specification from an "optimalist" 542 specification of quality. The maximalist specification ignores monetary costs and defines the highest quality as the level that can be expected to achieve the greatest 543 544 improvement in health. In contrast, in the optimalist specification of quality, very 545 expensive interventions that do not achieve a great improvement in health would be 546 avoided (Evans et al., 2001). Initially, Donabedian defined quality of care from a 547 maximalist perspective, while later he opted for the concept of value, with quality defined 548 as the maximum that is possible given the inputs that are available.

549

550 One other very influential definition of quality of care is that proposed by the IOM in the 551 United States and which has been adopted by a range of (mostly American) organisations 552 including the United States Department of Health and Human Services, the Joint 553 Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations and the National Committee for 554 Quality Assurance, as well as regulatory bodies such as the Health Care Financing 555 Administration (now Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services) (Edinger, 2000).

556

557 Already in 1974 the IOM had commented on quality assurance, stating that its "primary 558 goal ... should be to make health care more effective in bettering the health status and 559 satisfaction of a population, within the resources which society and individuals have 560 chosen to spend for that care". When reviewing this early work later, the IOM realized 561 that "quality of care" had not been defined. It also acknowledged that the method of 562 reviewing and assuring quality depended on how quality of care was defined (IOM, 563 1990). Therefore, in a 1990 report, the IOM authors reviewed over 100 definitions and 564 parameters of quality of care according to the presence or absence of 18 dimensions 565 (IOM, 1990). Based on this review, the authors arrived at a definition of quality of care 566 that considers 8 of the 18 dimensions identified. Consequently, quality of care was 567 defined as "the degree to which health services for individuals and populations increase the likelihood of desired health outcomes and are consistent with current professional 568 569 knowledge" (IOM, 1990).

571 The definition:

• includes a measure of scale;

• encompasses a wide range of elements of care with reference to health services;

- identifies both individuals and populations as targets for quality assurance efforts;
- is goal oriented (Mold et al., 1991), making a distinction within the health care goals
  depending on whether they emanate from government, patients, administrators,
  health care practitioners or other participants in the health care system;
- recognizes the importance of outcomes without specifying for whom, thus allowing
   the possibility of differing perspectives on which values of quality are most important;
- highlights the importance of individual patients' and society's preferences and values
   and implies that the patients have been taken into account in health care decision and policy-making;
- underlines the constraints placed on professional performance by the state of
   technical, medical and scientific knowledge, implying that the State is dynamic and
   that the health care provider is responsible for using the best knowledge base
   available.
- 587

588 It is important to note that compared to the definition developed by Donabedian, the IOM 589 definition narrows the goal from improving total patient welfare to improving health 590 outcomes (Evans et al., 2001). At the same time, it shifts the focus from patients to 591 individuals and populations, hence allowing quality of care also to incorporate health 592 promotion and disease prevention and not just cure and rehabilitation. It also adds 593 "desired outcomes" to the definition so as to emphasize the need to consider the 594 perspective of the recipients of services, and by highlighting that care should be 595 "consistent with current professional knowledge" it implies that the standards of the 596 service also need to be defined.

597

598 Considering the definitions and arguments discussed above the EXPH understands **High** 599 **Quality Health Care** as health care that uses the available and appropriate resources in 600 an efficient way to equitably contribute to the improvement of the health of the 601 population and patients. This implies that provision of care is consistent with current 602 professional knowledge, focuses on the needs and goals of individuals, their families and 603 communities, prevents and avoids harm related to care, and involves persons/patients as 604 key partners in the process of care.

## **3.2 CORE DIMENSIONS FOR QUALITY SERVICES IN HEALTH CARE**

607 608

As noted above, several authors and/or organisations have defined quality of care by 609 describing the concept according to a set of dimensions (Table 3). The most frequently used dimensions include (in descending order of frequency): effectiveness, efficiency, 610 access, safety, equity, appropriateness including timeliness, acceptability, patient

responsiveness or patient-centredness, satisfaction, health improvement and continuity

of care. These dimensions are, however, neither comprehensive nor mutually exclusive.

613

611

612

614

	Donabedian (1988)	Maxwell (1992)	Department of Health (UK)	Council of Europe	IoM (2001)	JCAHO (2006)
			(1997)	(1988)		
Effectiveness	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Efficiency	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Access	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х
Safety	Х			Х	Х	Х
Equity	Х	Х	(X)		Х	
Appropriateness	Х	Х		Х		Х
Timeliness			Х		Х	Х
Acceptability		Х		Х		
Responsiveness		Respect			Respect	
		Choice Information			Patient	
		Information			centred-	
Catiofastian				V	ness	
Satisfaction	X		(X)	Х		
Health	Х		Х			
improvement					Ň	
Continuity					Х	
Other		Technical		Efficacy		Availability
		competence				Prevention/
		Relevance				early
						detection

#### 615 Table 3 Dimensions of quality of care

Sources: Donabedian 1988; Maxwell 1992; Department of Health 1997; Council of Europe 1998; 616 617 IOM 2001; JCAHO 2006.

Notes: IOM: Institute of Medicine: JCAHO: Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare 618 619 Organizations.

620

621 The dimensions of effectiveness and efficiency are included in all definitions of quality of 622 care analysed here. Effectiveness refers to the extent to which the intervention in 623 question produces the intended effects (Maxwell, 1992; Witter and Ensor, 1997). 624 Efficiency, in contrast, refers to the extent to which objectives are achieved by 625 minimizing the use of resources (WHO, 2000). The goal is to maximize the output for a 626 given input, or conversely to minimize the input for a given level of output, for example by comparing the unit cost associated with the intervention with the unit cost elsewherefor the same intervention or service (Maxwell, 1992).

629

630 Access (to care) is also an important dimension in all definitions of quality of care 631 considered in the literature, except for the one put forward by the IOM (IOM, 2001). 632 Access can, in very simple terms, be operationalized as the proportion of a given 633 population in need of health services that can obtain them (WHO Regional Office for 634 Europe, 1998). It is important to note that access has been attributed different meanings 635 by different authors (Saturno, Gascon and Parra, 1997). However, the common concern 636 is to quantify whether a health service or treatment is available to the person needing it, 637 at the time it is needed.

638

639 Safety refers to the reduction of risk and forms an important component of several 640 definitions. According to the IOM, patient safety is "freedom from accidental injury due to 641 medical care, or medical errors", with medical error being defined as "the failure of a 642 planned action to be completed as intended or the use of a wrong plan to achieve an 643 aim...[including] problems in practice, products, procedures, and systems" (Kohn, 644 Corrigan and Donaldson, 2000). Patient safety has traditionally been considered as one 645 among many dimensions of quality of care, but it is increasingly being seen as absolutely 646 key to quality overall. As a consequence, the policy debate concerning patient safety has 647 developed in parallel to mainstream quality of health care initiatives. It is therefore 648 important, in our opinion, to reiterate that patient safety forms but one dimension of 649 quality in health care. However, a current serious discussion about patient safety being 650 something different from health quality is ongoing, and needs to be heeded.

651

652 Equity, as a separate, if related, dimension is also included in some classifications. This is 653 different from, but often confused with, equality. Equity implies considerations of fairness 654 so that, in some circumstances, individuals will receive more care than others to reflect 655 differences in their ability to benefit or in their particular needs. Equity can be seen as 656 one of the corner-stones of European health care, in contrast to some other developed 657 health care systems. As a principle it is recognised in the Treaty, and therefore, rather 658 than being acknowledged in the dimensions referred to next, it would be implicitly 659 assumed as a cross-cutting issue affecting all of them.

660

The next sets of dimensions most frequently mentioned refer to the extent to which care meets the medical, social and aspirational needs of patients. These dimensions are: appropriateness (how the treatment corresponds to the needs of the patient) including timeliness (receiving treatment within a reasonable time frame); acceptability (how

665 humanely and considerately the treatment is delivered); responsiveness to patients or 666 patient-centredness (consideration of individual patients' and society's preferences and 667 values); satisfaction (how the treatment and the improvement in the patient's health 668 meets her/his expectations); and continuity of care (the connectedness between stages 669 along the patient pathway). As will be seen later, continuity of care is regarded as the 670 most important concern by those patients who are receiving care abroad. Generally, 671 fragmentation and lack of coordination is identified by patients with chronic diseases as a 672 major obstacle in the way of good quality care.  $(EPF, 2011)^2$ 

673

674 An overriding dimension mentioned specifically by Maxwell, that could also be included in 675 the appropriateness dimension, is that of relevance (Maxwell, 1992). It refers to the 676 optimal overall pattern and balance of services that could be achieved, taking into 677 account the needs and wants of the population as a whole. The Council of Europe also 678 includes two notions that are not included by the other definitions considered here, 679 namely those of efficacy and assessment. Efficacy constitutes for the individuals in a 680 defined population the probable benefit of a given medical technique for a specific 681 medical problem, in ideal circumstances, and as such is a rather more limited element of 682 effectiveness. Assessment refers to the degree to which effective health care has been 683 implemented and achieved and results have been attained (Council of Europe, 1998).

684

The choice of dimensions to measure quality of care is critical as it will influence the health care policies adopted. Thus, Shaw and Kalo (2002) underline the key challenge for every country to recognize these diverse but legitimate expectations and to reconcile them in a responsive and balanced health system.

689

There are five dimensions that are commonly accepted as dimensions of quality of services (sometimes the term used is not the same). These dimensions can be applied to promotion and prevention services, primary care services, hospital services, emergency services, long-term care, palliative care, etc.

694

Having analysed the different dimensions, the EXPH considered the following as the core
dimensions for which goals, standards and indicators should be developed in order to
guarantee high quality health care services in the MS and at EU level.

- 698
- 699 1. Effectiveness (improve health outcomes)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> European Patients' Forum response to the European Commissions' stakeholder consultation on the reflection process on chronic diseases (2011), p.6. Available at <u>http://www.eu-</u>patient.eu/Documents/Who%20we%20are/News/EPF%20chronic%20diseases%20consultation%20response-

patient.eu/Documents/Who%20we%20are/News/EPF%20chronic%20diseases%20consultation%20response-<u>Final.pdf</u>

- 700 2. Safety (prevent avoid harm related with care)
- 3. Appropriateness (comply with current medical knowledge, meet standards)
- 702 4. Person/patient-centredness (consider patients/people as key partner in the703 process of care)
- 7045. Efficiency and Equity (optimal use of available resources without differences,705variations and disparities in the health achievements of individuals and groups)
- 706

707 The Expert Panel consider that until now health care systems have paid attention 708 primarily to the first three dimensions: effectiveness, patient safety and appropriateness, 709 and perhaps the aspect of patient-centred health care has not been sufficiently 710 highlighted. It is not only a question of patients "desires" been taken into account. Nor 711 only a question to "responding" to the needs and preferences of patients. These are 712 necessary but not enough. Patients, families and people, should have the possibility to 713 actively participate in the process of care and self-care, mainly for chronic conditions, 714 health promotion and disease prevention activities. The patients (the persons, if we 715 consider that a person can have health conditions that can be improved through their 716 life) are, in this respect, active participants in the process. So, the services have not only 717 to be developed "for" individuals and populations, but also "with" and "through" 718 individuals and populations. It is not only a question of "expectations", but of 719 empowering and increasing the capacity of the persons/patients to be able to care for 720 themselves in partnership with professionals (e.g. in relation to diabetes, mental 721 disorders, ageing with autonomy, etc.) and to achieve the "goals" in their lives that are 722 relevant to them. This new paradigm, derived from the best education of the people, and 723 the demographic and epidemiological transitions, must not be confounded with the 724 inappropriate shifting of responsibility to patients, or with the reduction of public health 725 resources in times of crisis. Nor is it that the patient has to assume the role of health 726 professionals, or that computer programs (apps) might replace medical services of high 727 quality. Better informed and empowered patients (user, person) will be able to maintain 728 optimal well-being and will manage their health condition more effectively in the context 729 of everyday life, with appropriate support of health professionals working in a well-730 funded and structured health care system. This could also imply the option to choose not 731 to receive the treatment proposed. The empowered patient may choose not to participate 732 (be involved) leaving decisions to the health professionals or, in other circumstances, the 733 empowered patient may choose the 'no treatment' option.

734

Currently, there is no globally agreed definition of patient-centred health care. Several definitions have been put forward, with varying terminology – e.g., some refer to personcentred rather than patient-centred care while the basic concept is similar. Similarities

can also be found with definitions of integrated or "joint-up" care (e.g., National Voices
 [UK] 2011).<sup>3</sup> Despite the problem of definitions, literature is accumulating on this topic,
 including guidelines for implementing and measuring patient-centred care approaches.<sup>4</sup>

741

The Institute of Medicine (2001) defined patient-centred health care as care that is "respectful of and responsive to individual patient preferences, need, and values, and ensuring that patient values guide all clinical decisions."

745

The Health Foundation defines a person-centred health care system as follows: "one that supports people to make informed decisions about, and to successfully manage, their own health and care, able to make informed decisions and choose when to invite others to act on their behalf. This requires health care services to work in partnership to deliver care responsive to people's individual abilities, preferences, lifestyles and goals."<sup>5</sup>

751

752 The International Alliance of Patients' Organizations (2005) has developed 6 principles of 753 patient-centred health care - respect for patients' unique needs, preferences and autonomy; choice of an appropriate treatment option that best fits the patient's needs; 754 755 patient empowerment and involvement in decisions that concern their health; access to 756 safe, high-quality, appropriate services and support; *information* that is reliable, relevant 757 and understandable; and patient involvement in health policy to ensure services are designed with the patient at the centre.<sup>6</sup> A recent UK "thought paper" identified four 758 759 principles of person-centred care: affording people *dignity, respect and compassion*; 760 offering *coordinated* care; offering *personalised* care; and being *enabling*.<sup>7</sup>

761

The Patient-Centred Healthcare Improvement Guide (2008) identifies the following elements in patient-centred care: providers working partnership with patients and their families; identifying and satisfying the full range of patient needs and preferences; ensuring health care professionals have both the ability and motivation to provide effective care. It also stresses that safety and high clinical quality are fundamental to patient-centred approach.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>www.nationalvoices.org.uk/principles-integrated-care

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field\_publication\_file/Richmond-group-from-vision-to-action-april-2012-1.pdf</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Helping measure person-centred care. A review of evidence about commonly used approaches and tools used to help measure person-centred care. The health Foundation (2014)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Declaration on patient centred health care: <u>www.patientsorganizations.org/showarticle.pl?id=712;n=312</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Alf Collins; "Measuring what really matters. Towards a coherent measurement system to support personcentred care". The Health Foundation, April 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Frampton S. et al., *Patient-Centered Care Improvement Guide*. Derby, Connecticut: Planetree; October 2008

769 From these definitions, albeit diverse, some common elements can be distinguished. 770 These include empathy/compassion (dignity); patient engagement/participation; and the 771 experience of care. Shared decision-making, self-management, patient and 772 information/health literacy are also commonly mentioned. Overall, patient-centred care is 773 seen as an approach to health care that affects "the entire health care sector and ... requires the involvement of all health care stakeholders."9 774

775

An accurate elicitation/assessment of the patients' needs and preferences is a fundamental starting point for a re-design of care in order to become more patientcentred.

- 779
- 780

#### 781 **Figure 3: Health system components: core quality dimensions**



HEALTH SYSTEM COMPONENTS - CORE QUALITY DIMENSIONS

Modified from EXPH, 2014

782 783

Figure 3 illustrates how the conceptual framework may be translated in an operationalinteraction between the different health systems components. EU Member States defined

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Person-centred care. Co-creating a health care sector for the future. DNV GL and Monday Morning / Sustainia (2014)

the following "Common Values" of health systems: universality, equity, solidarity and access to *high quality and care* (Council Conclusions, 2006). Over the years, EU Member States have implemented different strategies to improve the quality and safety of health care services. Table 4 presents the most relevant EU projects referring to quality and safety within the Framework Programs 5, 6, and 7.

- 791
- 792

## 793 **Table 4: Relevant Framework Programs' EU Projects on quality/safety**

794

Most relevant EU quality/safety related projects	FP
Exchange of knowledge on Quality Management in health care	5
The future for Patients in Europe	6
Methods of Assessing Response to Quality Improvement Strategies (MArquiS)	6
International scientific conference on research on patient safety	6
European Cross Border Care Collaborations (Cross Europe)	7
Quality and costs of primary care in Europe (QUALICOPC)	7
WeCare: Towards a Sustainable and Affordable Health care	7
Operations management and demand-based approaches to health care outcomes	7
and cost-benefits research	
European Consortium in Health care Outcomes and cost-benefit research	7
(ECHOUTCOME)	
International Research Project on Financing Quality in Health Care (InterQuality)	7
Learning from International Networks about Errors and Understanding Safety in	7
Primary Care (LINNEAUS Euro-PC)	
Quality and safety in European Union hospitals: A research-based guide for	7
implementing best practice and a framework for assessing performance	
(QUASAR)	
Deepening our understanding of quality improvement in Europe (DUQuE)	7
Improving quality and safety in the hospital: The link between organisational	7
culture, burnout, and quality of care	

795

796 Additionally, important work in the field of patient safety, patient 797 involvement/empowerment, quality indicators/guidelines has been developed (Table 5). 798 799 800 801 802

#### 803 Table 5: Additional EU work on quality/safety

804

European Union Network for Patient Safety and Quality of care (Joint Action PaSQ, 2012-2015)

European Commission's Patient Safety & Quality of Care Working Group (PSQCWG)

OECD Health Care Quality Indicators Project (HCQI Project)

Work Package 4 - Safety Improvement for Patients in Europe (SImPatIE)

Guidelines International Network (G-I-N)

DECIDE collaboration

The Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation WG (GRADE)

Empowering patients with chronic diseases (EMPATHIE) (tender EAHC 2013/health04)

- 805
- 806
- 807 As mentioned above, the EXPH considers five dimensions of health care quality
- 808
- 809 1.Effectiveness
- 810 2.Safety
- 811 3.Appropriateness
- 812 4.Person/patient-centredness
- 813 5.Efficiency and Equity
- 814

The dimensions and a selection of possible related goals are presented in the tables hereafter (tables 6-10)

- 817
- 818
- 819

EFFECTIVENESS	Tackling new challenges in health		
Concept	Related Goals		
Effectiveness refers to	Improving Prevention of Diseases and Health Promotion		
the extent to which the	Prevent risk factors, and improve life styles		
intervention in question	• Develop initiatives at EU level to support MS in the development and strengthening of national		
produces the intended	programs and strategies in health promotion and disease prevention as the most cost-effective		
effects (Maxwell 1992;	interventions.		
Witter and Ensor,	<ul> <li>Promote mental health and well-being in workplaces (EC 2011, EASHW 2011)</li> </ul>		
1997). In other terms,	Improving Equity in Health		
changes in health status	Prevent and correct inequities in health.		
brought about by health	• Disparities in health (between regions, income groups, gender, ethnic groups, etc.) are a major		
care -or health system-	issue in EU and in each MS. A first step has to be to establish systematic measure of these		
activities (Hurst J, Jee-	disparities, and analyse the causes that can be modified through cost-effective interventions.		
Hughes M, OECD,	o Inequities in health affecting mental health problems should have specific consideration in EU		
2001).	programs.		
	Identifying the main health problems and define health strategies		
	Reinforce information systems and the capacities for burden of diseases analysis at EU level.		
	$_{\odot}$ Develop tools and offer support to MS for the use of burden of diseases analysis in the		
	formulation of health strategies.		
	• Reinforce EU capacities to monitoring, early warning of and combating serious cross-border threats to		
	health (Decision 1082/2013 on serious cross-border threats to health)		
	$_{\odot}$ Support MS to develop, strengthen and maintain the capacity to detect, assess, notify and		
	respond to public health emergency of international concern.		
	$\circ$ Introduce a common procedure for the joint procurement of medical countermeasures, and in		

particular of pandemic vaccines (on a voluntary basis) in order to facilitate more equitable ar
efficient access to vaccines for the MS involved.
$\circ$ Ensure the development of the Health Security Committee capacities to be able to cope with
their mandates (information system, analytical capacity, decision making process, etc.).
Improving Health through All Policies approach
• Ensure EU capacities to guarantee application of the article 168 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the
European Union (TFEU): a high level of human protection should be ensured in the definition ar
implementation of all Union policies and activities.
• Establish mechanisms to systematically introduce health impact assessment at EU level.
o Elaborate proposals to improve impact on health of different policies (labour, education, housin
energy and environment, migration, fiscal systems, etc.)".

SAFETY	Creating a culture of patient safety in the Health System		
Concept	Related goals		
The degree to which health	Development of safety systems (including authorities, bodies, culture of patient safety		
care processes avoid,	, standards/guidelines) and strategies (policies, programs).		
prevent, and ameliorate	ameliorate - Establishment and development of national/ regional/ local policies and programs on patient saf		
adverse outcomes or	aimed to avoid or reduce unjustified health care related harm with special emphasis in Mental Healt		
injuries that stem from the	interventions. (Abbayati MA, 2011)		
processes of health care	Development of patient safety information and learning systems		
itself (Cooper JB-National	• Establishment of Information Systems on the extent, types and causes of errors, adverse event ar		
Patient Safety Foundation, misses. (Hoffman, 2008; Williams SK, 2006; Etchegaray JM, 2014)			
2000, OECD, 2006).	OECD, 2006). Education and training of health care workers, management and administrative staff in health care sett		
Freedom from accidental (formally required, included undergraduate, postgraduate training).			
injury due to medical care,	- Embedding patient safety in undergraduate and postgraduate education.		
or medical errors (Kohn,	, Encouragement of multidisciplinary patient safety on-the-job education and training of all health		
Corrigan and Donaldson,	, professionals, other health care workers and relevant management and administrative staff in health care		
2000).	settings. (Jansson M, 2013; Metsala E, 2014)		
	• Empowering and informing citizens and patients, including patient involvement in safety policies ar		
	activities (Council recommendation, 2009); Involving patients in health professionals' education; patie		
	and family reporting of patient safety incidents (reports of the relevant sub-groups of the EC PSQC W		
	2014)		

APPROPRIATENESS.	Stimulating involvement of health professionals in redesigning the Health Care System
EVIDENCE-BASED	
PRACTICE	
Concept	Related goals
The degree to which	Health Professionals and health care infrastructure development
provided health care is	An adequate number of well trained and motivated health professionals (physicians, nurses, etc).
relevant to the clinical	• Specific programs/strategies aimed to motivate health professionals in health system performance
needs and the goals of	improvement (training, incentives and payment systems, clinical governance and participation, etc.)
the patient, given the	• Appropriate infrastructure and equipment, properly maintained (authorisation and periodic control of
current best evidence	health care infrastructure and equipment)
(Kelley E, Hurst J, OECD,	Ensuring continuous education, access and use of evidence based information: clinical excellence
2006), and is applied in a	• Developing, maintaining, disseminating and stimulating adherence to adequate Guidelines and evidence
timely manner. How the	based medicine tools (Boströn AM, 2013; Connellan C, 2013; De Belvis AG, 2009; Lugtenberg M, 2009;
treatment corresponds to	Schnoor M, 2010)
the needs of the patient	• Improving continuing training programmes for health professionals in order to guarantee that they can
(The European	apply current professional knowledge (understanding and applying evidence) (Chapman L, 2006; Damiani
Observatory of Health	G, 2010)
Systems and Policies,	Ensuring and monitoring of health care quality
2008).	• Existence of a comprehensive, accredited Inspection System and support for Peer review systems
	(Veerbeek L, 2011)
	• Waiting time for care has to be adequate and should not be a cause for unnecessary pain, deterioration of
	health conditions or complications.
	• Management of waiting lists according with the needs of the patients should be evaluated and improved
	(De Belvis AG, 2013)

Redesigning the system
Health systems and health services organisations should be able to cope with the challenges of th
present and future times. Epidemiological, demographic, economic and cultural changes require new way
of thinking and permanent redesign of services. (Prades J, 2011)
• Integrated/coordinated approach (primary care, social care, specialised care, long term care, etc)
developing adequate care pathways, guaranteeing appropriate care along the processes (multi-morbidity
and through different circumstances of life, ensuring accessibility, flexibility, safety, etc (Barbieri A, 2009
De Allegri M, 2011; Dean JE, 2007; Dick, 2006; Henderson CR, 2008; Killaspy H, 2013; Stuit ,2011; Uñ
E, 2010; van Dam PA, 2013; Van Houdt, 2013).
• With citizen health literacy increasing and a greater acceptance of an active role for citizens in th
management of their own health and illnesses, the role and training of professionals will need to chang
accordingly. For greater efficiency the relative roles of professionals will also need to be closely scrutinise
(e.g. impact of nurse specialists on traditional medical responsibilities and how much this principle coul
be extended).
Improving quality through the use of information technology, Big Data, telehealth and telecare,
• Transform Data into information and better (informed) decisions. Improving quality and utilization of
information technology systems (Van der Mussele H, 2006; Verhoeven F, 2007; Zegers M, 2011)
<ul> <li>Health Card</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Medical record</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Receipt dispensation</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Telemedicine</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>On-line administrative procedures and health system information</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Creating and managing Information from Health Data-Bases for: planners, clinicians, patients</li> </ul>
researcher.

0	$\mathbf{r}$	0
0	/	0

PATIENT-	Recognising and making operative a new role for patients and people in the Health System	
CENTREDNESS		
Concept	Related goals	
The degree to which a	Access to care and responsiveness to needs	
system actually	• The health care system aims at ensuring that patients have access to services according to their health	
functions by placing the	condition based on their needs and on a non-discriminatory basis, at the same time considering the non-	
patient/user/person at	health factors that impact on their approach to health care choices and management.	
the centre of its	Respect	
functioning and delivery.	• The health care system aims at ensuring that the needs, preferences, values and goals of patients, as well	
This means that the	as their autonomy and independence (International Alliance of Patients' Organisations, 2012) are	
health care system is	considered when delivering services. (IAPO, 2012)	
respectful of and	Information and communication	
responsive to individual	• The health systems aims at ensuring that understandable information is available to patients according to	
patient goals,	health literacy principles, enabling them to take informed decisions about their health care path and living	
preferences, needs and	with their condition. Communication is seen as a key empowerment factor and a means to strengthen the	
values and ensures that	partnership between patient and caregiver.	
patient values guide all	• Information from patient-reported experience is utilized as a key learning resource for continuous	
clinical decisions	improvement of quality and safety (Boyce MB, 2014; Howell E, 2007; Marshall S, 2006).	
(Institute of Medicine,	Continuity and integration of care: care pathways	
2001). In this paradigm	• Services aim to implement fully integrated care which demands communication and cooperation between	
the patient is a key	professionals at different levels, centres, programmes or services. Ensuring connectedness and smooth	
partner of the health	transition (both at the nano and micro-level) is a feature of the care process. Care trajectories can either	
care system.	be "linear" (e.g. traditional referral from primary to secondary care for new health care problems), or	
We include here the	"spiral" (e.g. in multi-morbidity, with both horizontal and vertical integration). (Quansching K, 2013;	
following aspects (sub-	Redfern E, 2009; Tholin H, 2014).	
--------------------------	--	
dimensions): access to	<ul> <li>Integration of services also between health care and social care/support (EPF, 2011)</li> </ul>	
care and responsiveness,	Patient choice and empowerment	
respect, information and	• The health care system ensures patients the right to participate as partner in making health care decisions	
communication (which	that affect their lives, according to their capacity and wishes. Shared decision-making; Health literacy.	
includes the	• Patient self-management of health conditions: self-care. (Siebes, 2007). Engaging people in their own care	
transferability of	(APPG, 2014).	
knowledge), continuity	Patient involvement in health policy at all levels	
and transition of care,	• The health care system aims at having patient actively involved in sharing the responsibility at all levels of	
patient choice and	policy-making and decision-making in health and related policies, to ensure they are focus on the needs	
empowerment (including	and role of patients.	
self-care), patient	• Framework for "meaningful patient involvement" for (collective) patient involvement in projects and policy	
involvement in health	is provided by the Value+ project (EU health programme, 2009)	
policy at all levels and	Relevance	
relevance.	the optimal overall pattern and balance of services could be achieved, taking into account the needs and wants	
	of the population as a whole (care that really matter, both for the individual and for society)	

**Table 9: Core dimension: Patient-Centredness** 

EFFICIENCY AND	Ensuring value for money in the health care system and a fair distribution of health care and financial
EQUITY	contributions
Concept	Related goals
The degree to which health	Attaining highest possible health outcomes given the available resources
systems create desirable	• The health system aims at and is designed to attaining best outcomes for patients with available
outcomes in relation to the	resources. This requires a good structure of the health care system, including the financing and delivery
scarce resources available.	side and measurement of outcomes. Assessing efficiency requires clarity about health care goals.
"Efficiency is the system's	Meso level efficiency
optimal use of available	• Health care providers should be stimulated to increase efficiency, i.e. to maximally contribute to desired
resources to yield	outcomes given available resources and context (e.g. case mix). Mechanisms like outcome based
maximum benefits or	financing may contribute, but require adequate outcome measurement.
results (JCAHO, 1997)."	Micro level
Equity refers to the	• Health Technology Assessment can be used in order to ensure that there is good information available
fairness of financing,	regarding the value for money technologies present, to inform decision making about their use.
process and delivery of	Equity in health and health care
health care.	• Health care systems should contribute to an equitable distribution of health and health care. Health care
	is to be distributed on the basis of need. Reducing inequities in health and health care consumption can
	be an explicit policy goal.
	Equity in financing
	• Equity in financing of health care can be viewed as contributing on the basis of ability to pay.
	Proportionality of contributions to the health care in relation to income can be measured. Degree of
	insurance coverage is also important, as well as for instance level of out of pocket payments.
	Avoiding "inequity by disease"
	• Specific access to services is increasingly conditioned by the diagnosis of the patient. Inequity by

disease refers to the phenomenon whereby patients get access to care, which is less or not accessible
to patients with the same functional status (equal need for health care) based on their diagnostic
label (diagnosis) but with a different diagnosis. In short, who does not have the 'right' disease or
condition, has no or less access to care (De Maeseneer J et al., May 2012).

# **Table 10: Core dimension: Efficiency and Equity**

832 833

#### 3.3 EFFICIENCY AND EQUITY

In this section some health economic aspects of quality and safety are considered. We focus on efficiency and equity. Note that efficiency can be investigated and addressed at different levels within a health care system: the system level (macro), the organisational level (meso) and the intervention level (micro and nano).<sup>10</sup> Efficiency relates resource use (costs) to outcomes (benefits).

- 839
- 840 Efficiency

Although this is not uncontroversial, the IOM definition of quality of care includes efficiency as a core dimension. The IOM notes that in an efficient health care system *"resources are used to get the best value for the money spent"*. Or as Kelly and Hurst (OECD, 2006) write: *"Efficiency* is the system's optimal use of available resources to yield maximum benefits or results (JCAHO, 1997)". Using this definition, efficiency is therefore not *extrinsic* to quality of care, yet an integral part of the quest for quality.

847

Given that efficiency in itself already refers to the relation between costs and benefits (or input and outputs), as explained below, some of the other elements (e.g. effectiveness) of quality are also part of efficiency. It needs noting that the different dimensions of quality may sometimes compete (e.g. effectiveness and patient centredness; effectiveness and equitability), which clearly also is the case for efficiency (e.g. versus pure effectiveness, safety or equitability).

854

855 Efficiency can mean different things. Technical efficiency refers to a situation in which 856 there is no waste and given goods are produced with the minimal amount of resources. 857 Cost-efficiency broadly refers to producing given goods at lowest costs. Allocative 858 efficiency includes the former two types of efficiency, but also refers to a situation in 859 which those goods are produced, that are valued most by society. In any case, efficiency 860 relates means and ends, resources and outcomes, costs and benefits. This makes it, by 861 definition, a multidimensional concept, hampering its direct measurement. Still, measuring and improving efficiency remains important, since as long as systems, 862 863 providers or interventions are not fully efficient, increasing efficiency implies that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Note that the OECD uses the terms "macro-economic" and "micro-economic" efficiency." Kelly and Hurst (2006) write: "Macro-efficiency refers to the overall allocation of public and private expenditures in the health system, i.e. is overall health spending at the "right" level? In some of the country frameworks, macro-efficiency is alternatively termed "sustainability" or "affordability". Micro-efficiency refers to the value for money realized with available resources, i.e. is the health system as productive as possible in light of the system inputs and desired outputs?" In order to avoid confusion, this terminology will not be followed here since the latter term still refers to the system level.

resources are freed which can be used to achieve better outcomes in terms of health,wellbeing and equity.

866

In order to make meaningful statements about efficiency of a health care system or a health care intervention, one needs to study both the resources required for that system or intervention as well as the benefits (e.g. health gains, welfare gains) that the system or intervention brings. This is an important but not an easy task, especially not at a system level, where it involves multiple resources as well as multiple outcomes, which need to be traded-off and weighted.

873

#### 874 *Macro level efficiency*

875 Quality of care can be seen as the outcome of decisions (at different levels) in health 876 care, which are bounded by several constraints, including resource constraints. At the 877 macro-level, the resources consumed by the health care sector can be approximated by 878 health care expenditures. Aggregate health care expenditures are commonly measured 879 (e.g. OECD, 2013), although definitions of health care systems and provisions within 880 systems may differ (although extensive efforts are undertaken to standardise through 881 National Health Accounts). The OECD also provides insight into health insurance 882 coverage for a core set of services (OECD, 2013).

883

Expenditures can be presented in different ways, for instance as a percentage of GDP or as absolute expenditures per capita<sup>11</sup> (preferably adjusted using appropriate<sup>12</sup> purchasing power parities). In both cases, large differences in spending are observed throughout Europe. Such differences do not indicate differences in efficiency. They merely indicate differences in (financial) opportunities for achieving desired outcomes.

889

890 In order to measure efficiency on a system level, health care expenditures (costs) need 891 to be related to health care outcomes. This poses numerous difficulties for several 892 reasons, including the following. First, most of the routinely measured 'outcomes' relate 893 either to treatment results or availability of health care (e.g. number of physicians per 894 1,000 inhabitants, number of hospital beds per 1,000 inhabitants) or represent 895 intermediate outcomes (e.g. percentage vaccinated children against specific diseases, 896 percentage of women above a certain age screened for breast cancer). While these 897 variables may be informative and signal the need for improvement and policy action,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> General expenditures can be broken down in expenditures per sector or disease (e.g. Meerding et al., 1998; Frank and Glied, 2006; Heijink et al., 2008). This can highlight relative spending on diseases, shifts in spending over time, facilitate more detailed system comparisons and analyses of efficiency of different parts of the health care sector (provided adequate outcome measures are available). Such information is now not routinely produced in Europe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Choice of appropriate PPPs requires attention

898 ultimate outcomes relate to gains in health (longevity and quality of life) and well-being. 899 Second, if two countries have equal health care expenditures yet different outcomes (e.g. 900 health levels), this does not necessary imply differences in efficiency of the system. 901 Health care is one of the determinants of population health, but clearly not the only one. 902 Differences between countries in terms of, for instance, dietary habits, childhood poverty, 903 smoking habits or environmental factors may result in different health outcomes that are 904 difficult to relate to the functioning of health care systems. Third, in order to make 905 statements about the efficiency of a health care system at the macro-level, the goals of 906 the system need to be clear. For instance, the WHO (WHO, 2000) defined three broad 907 goals: fair financial contributions, responsiveness and health, but it is unclear whether 908 this list is exhaustive and how these goals should be weighted (EXPH, 2014).

909

910 At present, systematic attention to macro-efficiency is lacking, as is the required 911 underlying information on (weighted) goals, costs, outcomes and processes. In our view 912 that priority should be given to enriching the informational base throughout Europe, by 913 systematically and uniformly gathering more data on key parameters, which could 914 ultimately feed into an efficiency framework. Moreover, further development of a 915 framework facilitating comparisons of European health care systems remains important, 916 including discussions on health policy goals. Such a framework could be adapted and 917 expanded, allowing more detailed comparisons (e.g. for antenatal care or mental health 918 care). It could also improve our understanding of how system performance relates to 919 aspects like organisation of health care system, incentives, remuneration, etc., 920 facilitating countries learning from each other's experiences and choices.

921

Moreover, when addressing the issue of macro-efficiency, it should be emphasised that health and health care contribute to wealth. The health care system, through contributing to better health, has an impact on the wider economy (e.g. through increased productivity or reducing the need for informal care), which should ideally be included in assessments of efficiency (EC, 2013a; Usher, 1973; McKee et al., 2009; Figueras et al., 2009; Figueras and McKee, 2012; Suhrcke et al., 2012; Jamison et al., 2013). This remains an underexplored area.

929

The economic impact of health expenditures and the financial protection of individuals is also important. Financial protection ensures everyone who needs health services can get them without undue financial hardship (WHO 2010). It makes a significant contribution to two key policy goals—efficiency and equity—with welfare gains accruing to individuals, the health system and the wider economy (Moreno-Serra et al 2013). Out-of-pocket payments can cause financial hardship and reduce the use of health services, potentially

contributing to socio-economic differences in health and poverty traps. Financial
protection can be measured by estimating the extent to which out-of-pocket spending on
health services prevents people from spending on other essential goods ('catastrophic'
out-of-pocket spending on health) or pushes them (further) into poverty ('impoverishing'
out-of-pocket spending on health) (see below).

941

942 *Macro level equity* 

The distributions of financial contributions to the health care sector, health care itself and
health play are important to monitor, since equity of health, health care distribution and
health care financing are highly important policy goals.

946

In terms of health equity, this refers to the distribution of health itself in the population.
It is well-known that large differences exist between for instance socio-economic groups
in terms of (healthy) life expectancy. Measurement techniques for inequities in health
(and health care) are available (Van Doorslaer and van Ourti, 2011).

951

In terms of an equitable distribution of health care, it is often argued whether health care is distributed (consumed) according to need. Inequalities in health care consumption may be entirely appropriate when the need for health care differs between groups, but otherwise it may signal inequities. This can and should be monitored, which is now not routinely and comparably done. (Van Doorslaer and van Ourti, 2011)

957

It is also important to monitor equity in financial protection. This can be assessed by estimating the incidence and distribution of catastrophic and impoverishing out-of-pocket spending on health care using household budget survey data (Wagstaff and van Doorslaer 2003, Xu et al 2003, Moreno-Serra et al 2013). There are good examples of financial protection analysis in individual EU member states (Võrk et al 2009, Kronenberg and Barros 2014).

964

965 Moreover, equitable financing of health care (solidarity) remains important. Different 966 financing mechanisms exist throughout Europe. In many countries, financial contributions 967 towards the health care system aim to ensure solidarity between the rich and the poor as 968 well as between healthy and sick people, but the degree to which differs. Fleurbaey and 969 Schokkaert (2013) write: "In most societies there is a widespread conviction that health 970 care is not a commodity like other commodities, because health care expenditures are 971 largely imposed on individuals, rather than freely chosen. It follows that the financial 972 burden should not disproportionately rest on those who suffer from illness, i.e. that it 973 should be largely independent of the health risks." Fairness in financing the health care

- 974 system can be assessed by estimating the proportionality of contributions in relation to 975 income. Methods for doing so have been developed (e.g. Kakwani et al., 1997; O'Donnell 976 et al., 2007), but they are not systematically used in Europe.
- 977
- 978 Fairness of health care financing, delivery of health care, financial protection and health 979 outcomes remains important to measure and monitor. (EXPH, 2014)
- 980
- 981 Meso level efficiency

Evidence on efficiency at the meso level within health care systems is scarce as well. Two
topics can be distinguished: (i) measuring the efficiency of health care providers and (ii)
improving this efficiency using economic incentives.

985

986 Regarding the first, it is important to again emphasize that appropriate and available measures of outcome (corrected for contextual factors such as case mix, when 987 988 appropriate) are required in order to assess efficiency (e.g. Gyrd-Hansen et al., 2012). A 989 large body of literature exists on provider (especially hospital) efficiency (see e.g. Jacobs 990 et al., 2006 and Hussey et al., 2009 for good overviews). While results from several 991 studies suggest marked differences in provider efficiency (and hence room for 992 improvement of quality), Hussey et al. (2009) provide an important cautionary 993 conclusion: "Efficiency measures have been subjected to few rigorous evaluations of 994 reliability and validity, and methods of accounting for quality of care in efficiency 995 measurement are not well developed at this time." Good evidence on and systematic 996 use of these tools is lacking.

997

998 Regarding the second point, improvement of quality and safety can importantly be 999 influenced at the meso level. One way of doing so, is through improved (financial and 1000 other) incentives to and within organisations (e.g. pay for performance measures). 1001 Meacock et al (2014) report evidence that pay for performance schemes in the Advancing 1002 Quality initiative in the UK were a cost-effective way of improving quality. Other studies 1003 have also reported positive effects of financial incentives on quality in specific disease 1004 areas (e.g. Karunaratne et al., 2013; Peabody et al., 2013), but others find no evidence 1005 (e.g. Shih et al., 2014). More evidence on the impact of pay for performance incentives 1006 on quality at the meso level is required, again requiring sound measurement of 1007 appropriate outcomes.

- 1008
- 1009 Micro level efficiency

1010 Quality, expenditures and efficiency are highly influenced by the interventions 1011 (technologies) provided in and organisational features of a health care system (e.g.

1012 Cutler, 1995; Cutler and McClellan, 2001; Smith et al., 2009). In essence, health 1013 technology assessment tools were designed to inform health care decision makers about 1014 the costs of interventions and their contribution to health care goals. Economic 1015 evaluations, often taking the form of cost-effectiveness or cost-utility studies, form an 1016 important component of health technology assessment (e.g. Drummond et al., 2005). 1017 The evidence on and use of cost-effectiveness of health care interventions is growing 1018 (Allen et al, 2013). However, much emphasis has been put on assessing the cost-1019 effectiveness of pharmaceuticals, while other interventions (e.g. public health, medical devices, mental health programs, long term care) have been evaluated less 1020 1021 systematically and the methods for doing so, for instance in the long term care sector, 1022 are not always available (e.g. Makai et al., 2013). Moreover, there are clear differences 1023 between countries in selecting interventions for funding / inclusion in basic benefits 1024 packages (Allen et al., 2013).

1025

EUnetHTA (www.EUnetHTA.eu) attempts to bring different HTA agencies together and 1026 1027 learn from each other, but large differences exist in (i) which criteria are considered 1028 important and (ii) how these criteria are operationalised and (iii) how assessments are 1029 used in policy making. The Health Basket project indicated important differences between 1030 in this respect (Schreyögg et al., 2005) and these still persist. These differences relate to 1031 the criteria used for selecting technologies for funding (some do not consider efficiency), 1032 the methodology used in measurement, the transparency of the decision making 1033 framework and process, as well as the policy tools (practice guidelines, price 1034 negotiations, etc.) for using HTA results (e.g. Claxton et al., 2002; Rutten et al., 2005; 1035 Franken et al., 2013). Further harmonization is useful in light of current differences in 1036 policy context and methodology. The Expert Panel considers systematic and 1037 institutionalised use of economic evaluations in health care decision making (e.g. funding 1038 decisions or medical guidelines) as a quality indicator of health care 1039 systems/organisations (which may be seen as a process quality indicator).

1040

#### 1041 Improving quality

The value added of improving health care quality is almost self-evident, given the broad definition used here. On a macro-level, by improving quality, higher outcomes (in terms of health, wellbeing, and/or equity) may be attained at similar levels of costs or similar achievements would be possible at lower costs. On a meso- and micro-level, the position is analogous.

1047

1048 Note that in general, higher outcomes are attained through higher spending. This can still1049 be efficient (and involve a potential increase in quality), as long as the benefits attained

1050 exceed the additional costs. Such evidence is easier to obtain on a micro level, in 1051 controlled settings, but also on the macro level evidence suggests that, in general, 1052 increased health care spending in the last decades has contributed to health increases in 1053 a cost-effective way (e.g. Cutler et al., 2006; Cutler and McClellan, 2001; Moreno-Serra 1054 and Smith, 2012). However, this evidence is limited and requires (strong) assumptions 1055 on the contribution of health care to increases in health. Newer developments, such as 1056 the use of registries to measure and monitor the efficiency and quality of care (in daily 1057 practice), can help to build the evidence base for quality improvement.

1058

1059 Quality can also be improved in combination with lower costs of care, for instance 1060 through avoidance of unnecessary and inappropriate care use, which does not result in 1061 health gains yet increases costs. An example is the avoidance of re-hospitalisations 1062 because of wound infections. There are many examples of waste/inappropriate use of 1063 medical resources (e.g. Fasola et al., 2014; Shipman and Sinsky, 2013). However, while 1064 reducing waste is a clear goal, it is often unclear how exactly to cut out (only) the waste 1065 (and how cost-effective measures to reduce waste are). In a broad sense, evidence is 1066 lacking on cost-effectiveness of quality controls and inspections. Moreover, other ways of 1067 improving outcomes (e.g. investing in professionalization) may be more efficient.

1068

The fact that the use of efficiency indicators at the micro level is not common practice in different European countries and that its use is not systematic across health care interventions, is an important call for policy action. Not only to steer optimal investments in health, but also, if required, to select areas for disinvestment (for instance due to budget cuts) that save money at minimal health costs.

1074

1075 It is crucial to define appropriate outcome measures in order to be able to judge 1076 efficiency and quality. At present, a common set of relevant outcome indicators is 1077 lacking, which hampers measurement of efficiency and quality. These may include health 1078 measures like (avoidable) mortality and quality of life, but also aspects of equity, patient 1079 satisfaction and process indicators like timeliness. Moreover, elements like the validity of 1080 measurement, timing of measurements, comparability across settings, etc are important 1081 to consider.

1082

1083 Safety

1084 Safety (e.g. avoiding accidents in hospitals, wrong prescriptions, infections, 1085 contamination through unsafe blood products, health damaging implants) is an important 1086 goal and much effort is focused on increasing safety. (Effective) safety measures 1087 contribute to health and may also be considered to be a valued element of a responsive health care system (i.e. a process indicator). While important, safety measures should be
evidence based – i.e. having been shown to be effective and cost-effective, this is not
always the case.

1091

1092 Moreover, some safety measures may be considered very expensive in relation to the 1093 health they preserve (i.e. not cost-effective by common standards - e.g. Custer and 1094 Hoch, 2009). Where such high costs are accepted, this may partly be explained by loss 1095 aversion (the fact that harm caused by the health care sector receives more weight in 1096 health care decisions than similarly important benefit) and the fact that all patients may benefit from the 'feeling of safety'.. This deserves more attention in research. Other 1097 safety measures (e.g. those avoiding hospital acquired infections) may have the potential 1098 1099 of producing (health) benefits while lowering costs at the same time - for instance 1100 through reducing length of stay. This also indicates that safety measures do not 1101 necessarily improve quality.

#### 1103 1104

1105

# 3.4 QUALITY OF CARE IN THE CONTEXT OF CROSS-BORDER CARE IN EUROPE

1106 The quality agenda as it relates to cross-border care in Europe has two aspects. The first is the extent to which a patient can be assured of high quality care if they are receiving 1107 1108 that care within a different Member State. This raises questions about the use of 1109 terminology (for example, what do terms such as licensing and registration of physicians mean in different Member States), standards, and regulatory systems. The second is 1110 1111 whether the quality of care can be ensured for patients whose care involves elements 1112 that take place in two or more member States. This raises questions about 1113 communication and co-ordination of processes in each Member State. Each of these 1114 issues can be considered in terms of the various elements that are required to deliver 1115 care. These are human resources, such as health workers, physical resources, such as 1116 pharmaceuticals, technology, and facilities, and knowledge resources, such as guidelines. 1117 An overarching element is the availability of information for patients who may be receiving care in another Member State, including the use of European Reference 1118 1119 Networks.

- 1120
- 1121

#### 3.4.1 Legal framework

1122 In 2011, the European Parliament and the Council of the European Union (EU) adopted 1123 the Directive 2011/24/EU on the application of patients' rights in cross-border health care (European Union, 2011). The aim of the Directive is to lay down rules to facilitate access 1124 1125 to safe and high-quality cross-border health care within the EU, as a means of enabling patient mobility in accordance with the principles of the existing case law, and to 1126 1127 encourage cooperation between Member States in the field of health care, while fully 1128 respecting Member States' competence in the organisation and delivery of services. The 1129 process of agreeing the Directive was long and complex, reflecting the different situations 1130 to which it would apply and the challenges involved in balancing harmonization of 1131 processes while respecting the rights of Member States to manage their systems (Legido-1132 Quigley, Glinos et al., 2012).

1133 The Directive applies to individual patients who seek health care in another Member 1134 State than the Member State of affiliation. However, the Member State of affiliation can 1135 restrict reimbursement of cross-border health care reasons related to the quality and 1136 safety of health care.

In practice, the vast majority of health care is obtained in the patient's own Member
State, close to their place of residence. Indeed, it has been suggested that the Directive
is, to some extent, a solution in search of a problem and there are concerns that vested

1140 interests, who would benefit from the opening of markets in health care, are exploiting 1141 concerns about patients' rights to travel abroad, thereby introducing competition for 1142 domestic health care providers, are exaggerating the scale of actual or potential flows. 1143 Indeed, in some short-lived examples, such as arrangements for patients from the 1144 English NHS to obtain care in France, Belgium or Germany, the purpose was explicitly to 1145 inject competition into the domestic system and, once this competition was created by 1146 measures to encourage domestic private providers to enter the market, the initiative ceased.(Rosenmöller, McKee et al., 2006) Yet, while it is essential that the response to 1147 1148 cross-border care is kept in proportion, there are issues that need to be addressed.

1149 The most important issues arise from a fundamental tension in the legislation. The 1150 Directive, like European case law, is based on the principle of mutual recognition, 1151 whereby services provided in one Member State are deemed equivalent to those provided 1152 in another, subject to meeting certain criteria (Legido-Quigley and McKee, 2010). In 1153 many areas of cross-border activity, such as trade in agricultural products, the criteria 1154 are extremely tightly specified, encompassing size, colour, means of processing and 1155 much else. In health care in contrast, the criteria are minimal, with medical education 1156 specified simply as hours of study completed rather than the possession of particular 1157 competences. This minimalist approach reflects the political imperative to respect the 1158 right of the member States to organise their health systems in ways that they see fit, but 1159 it does create considerable challenges when seeking to ensure that patients crossing borders can be sure of obtaining high quality care. 1160

1161 The next sections examine quality in relation to the main elements of care.

1162

1164

#### 3.4.2 Elements of health care

#### 1165 Health professionals

1166 Can a patient obtaining health care in another Member State be assured that the health 1167 professional treating them has the appropriate skills and expertise to deliver high quality 1168 care? This question is concerned with the processes by which the professions are 1169 regulated in each Member State. This issue has been examined in most detail in relation 1170 to doctors.

1171 The qualifications necessary to be considered as a health professional, and thereby to 1172 obtain the right to practice in another Member State, were first set out in a Directive of 1173 1975, with subsequent revisions. This simply specified the number of hours of training to be completed. A series of high profile cases, where doctors who have moved from one 1174 1175 Member State to another and have been involved in serious incidents causing harm to 1176 patients stimulated a revision to the legislation, agreed by the Council and Parliament in 1177 2013. This will establish a European Professional card, containing details of the doctor's 1178 qualifications, an alert mechanism to ensure that regulatory authorities are aware of 1179 cases of malpractice and disciplinary proceedings, and the ability for the Member State 1180 receiving the doctor to establish their language competence.

1181 One immediate problem relates to the terminology that is used. Licensing has been 1182 defined as "the process of authorization or authenticating the right of a physician to engage in medical practice, its monitoring (regulation) and renewal or extension" (Rowe 1183 1184 and García-Barbero, 2005). The same source defines registration "as all the processes 1185 associated with the issuing of licenses/authorizations to practice medicine and ensuring 1186 that the professional activities carried out under this authority maintain the professional standards on which it is based". These definitions display considerable overlap and, as a 1187 1188 recent study showed, in practice, the two are used in different ways in different Member States (Kovacs, Schmidt et al., 2014). There is also considerable variation in the duration 1189 1190 of registration and/or licensing, the procedures required to complete these processes, the 1191 eligibility of those applying (with some countries having bi- or multi-lateral arrangements 1192 that reflect historical ties with other countries), and even the availability of registers for 1193 public scrutiny.

A second issue relates to the establishment of whether a doctor remains fit to practice. In some Member states, some or all doctors must undergo regular assessments of their competence. By far the most extensive, in terms of its depth of assessment and its breadth, covering all licensed medical practitioners, regardless of whether they have any patient contact, is in the UK. However, many other countries have no system in place, assuming that once a doctor is registered they will ensure that they remain fit to practice, while others have systems in place for specific groups, such as generalpractitioners in The Netherlands.

1202 A third issue relates to the response to doctors whose behaviour calls into question their 1203 ability to practice. Again, the arrangements in place vary enormously. A recent study in 1204 which regulatory authorities were asked how they would respond to vignettes describing 1205 actions by doctors, including those that related to patient safety, clinical competence, 1206 probity, and other behaviour that while not related to their clinical practice might cast 1207 doubt on their judgement or integrity demonstrated a very wide range of responses, 1208 including whether the action would be considered at all by anyone, whether the 1209 professional regulator, employer, or professional association, and what sanctions would 1210 be imposed.(Risso-Gill, Legido-Quigley et al., 2014)

1211 Although most of the research so far has been undertaken about doctors, it is highly1212 likely that the same issues apply to nurses and other professional groups.

Given the very different views of professionalism in different Member States, which have been characterised as lying on a spectrum from state medicine, where the doctor's behaviour is regulated by the statutory authorities, to the idea of the liberal professions, whereby it is the sole responsibility of the professions to regulate themselves, it is not realistic to think that it will be possible to harmonise procedures within the EU. However, there is clearly a need for much greater clarity on the processes that are in place and the implications for quality of care.

1220 The foregoing discussion assumes that there are health professionals available to provide 1221 care. However, worldwide, there is a severe shortage, especially of doctors and nurses. 1222 EU Member States are failing to train enough health professionals and, in many of them, 1223 previous assumptions about the numbers needed to sustain the workforce have been 1224 found wanting as unexpectedly high numbers take early retirement. The situation is 1225 especially problematic in many of the new Member States, many of whose health 1226 professionals have taken advantage of free movement to relocate to Western Europe. However, these highly skilled workers face few barriers to mobility globally, such is the 1227 1228 demand for their skills. It has been estimated that the USA alone will need to recruit 1229 130,600 overseas trained doctors by 2025 and 808,000 nurses by 2030<sup>13</sup>. An effective 1230 response is complicated by the limited amount of work that has been undertaken to 1231 estimate future health workforce needs and to plan accordingly. However, there are now 1232 a few efforts to address this gap, such as the EU Joint Action on Health Workforce

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> <u>http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/time-to-think-differently/trends/professional-attitudes-and-workforce/international-flows</u>

1233 Planning & Forecasting<sup>14</sup> while a number of civil society organisations have come 1234 together to create Healthworkers 4All<sup>15</sup> to promote a sustainable global health workforce.

# Pharmaceuticals and medical technology : ensuring quality in each MemberState

1237 Can patients crossing borders within Europe be assured that the medicines they are 1238 prescribed are of adequate quality?

#### 1239 Medicines regulation

Unlike the situation with many of the other inputs to health care, the regulation of medicines within the EU is clearly specified. The European Medicines Agency (EMA) was established in 1995 and there are now two mechanisms by which a medicine can be authorized for use within the EU. The first is the centralised scheme, whereby the application is submitted to the EMA. The second is a decentralised process whereby the application is made to a national regulatory body, enabling regulatory bodies in other Member States to accept this authorization under the principle of Mutual Recognition.

1247 The main issue in relation to quality relates to the transparency of the process. The 1248 group alltrials.net has raised serious concerns about the refusal of the EMA to make 1249 available the data on which it bases its decisions, a refusal that the EMA has sought to justify on grounds of commercial confidentiality, an approach that it has persisted with 1250 1251 even though the EU's Ombudsman has called for the release of data on adverse reactions 1252 to certain medicines. In response to widespread criticism, the EMA is progressively 1253 implementing a new, more transparent approach to data sharing but concerns about the 1254 extent and pace of openness remain.

## 1255 Medicines reimbursement

1256 Efficiency is one dimension of quality. Allocative efficiency exists where the best possible use is made of existing resources. The increasing cost of certain pharmaceuticals, some 1257 1258 of which offer limited health gain, has led some Member States to put in place systems to 1259 assess the cost utility of new medicines. Public authorities can then compare new 1260 products on the basis of, for example, cost per quality adjusted life year (QALY). One of the best known examples is NICE in England. However, its decisions are sensitive to both 1261 1262 the immediate costs of new products and the indirect costs involved in developing models of care to deliver them. There is considerable scope for extending this approach into 1263 1264 other Member States and, especially in the case of the smaller Member States that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> <u>http://euhwforce.weebly.com/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> <u>http://www.healthworkers4all.eu/gb/home/</u>

1265 cannot hope to replicate the infrastructure required, to examine the scope for possible1266 European collaborative models.

## 1267 Safety of medicinal products

1268 In many parts of the world it cannot be assumed that a pharmaceutical product obtained 1269 from a pharmacy is safe or effective, even though it may be packaged and presented as 1270 an authorised medicine. There are two reasons why this may be so (Attaran, Barry et al., 1271 2012). The first is that it may have been manufactured or stored in conditions that led to 1272 it containing inadequate active ingredient or becoming contaminated. The second is that 1273 it may have been deliberately falsified, in other words that it is counterfeit. Both have 1274 important consequences for quality of care, posing a risk of poisoning or inadequate 1275 treatment. Where the product is an antibiotic, a further problem arises as there is a risk 1276 of accelerating the development of resistant micro-organisms. Both cases are covered by 1277 consumer safety legislation, although there is as yet no co-ordinated international action 1278 against the criminal trade in deliberately falsified drugs, analogous to that covering 1279 illegally produced banknotes. These issues should not be confused with a third category, 1280 medicines that are manufactured and packaged in ways that imitate products lawfully on 1281 the market, both branded and generic, but which are manufactured so as to replicate the 1282 composition and formulation of the original product. This category raises issues of 1283 intellectual property but not quality and safety.

## 1284 Medical technology

1285 The quality of medical technology within Europe is governed by general product safety 1286 legislation. However, as innovative technology has an opportunity cost, as is the case 1287 with medicines, it is important to ensure quality that what is procured is cost-effective. In 1288 2004 the Commission and Council identified the importance of European collaboration on 1289 health technology assessment (HTA). As a result, EUnetHTA was established, seeking to 1290 create a sustainable network for collaboration on HTA across Europe. EUnetHTA is a 1291 voluntary collaboration of European HTA organisations that shares knowledge on HTA 1292 and promotes good practice in the conduct of HTA.

## 1293 **Pharmaceuticals and medical technology: continuity of care across borders**

According to the Directive on the application of patients' rights in cross-border health care, a patient who has legally been prescribed a medicine in one Member State should be able to have that prescription dispensed by a pharmacist in another Member States, as long as it is authorised there (Art 11). Restrictions on the recognition of individual prescriptions are prohibited unless limited to what is necessary to safeguard human

health or based on legitimate and justified doubts about the authenticity, content or comprehensibility of an individual prescription. Medicinal products subject to special medical prescription are not regulated by the Directive.

1302 Even though a "long-list" of possible cross-border prescription elements was proposed in 1303 2011, it was only in 2012 that the Commission used an implementing act to require 1304 prescriptions that are issued upon the request of a patient who intends to have the 1305 medicines dispensed in another Member State should contain a minimum non-exhaustive 1306 set of elements - including professional qualifications and contact details of the prescriber 1307 - to recognized abroad (the so-called "cross-border prescriptions"). Additionally, with 1308 some exceptions, these types of prescriptions should be written using international non-1309 proprietary names  $(INN)^3$ .

A recent survey completed by nearly 1000 pharmacists in seven Member States dealing 1310 with foreign prescriptions for eight pathologies found that 55% of patients would have 1311 1312 faced difficulties in getting prescribed products dispensed in another country. The key 1313 challenges that emerged from the study were the verification of the prescriber, 1314 exacerbated in handwritten prescriptions, language barriers, and missing information. 1315 These concerns were also identified in a "shopping experiment" carried out in 2011 and 1316 2012. Belgian and Finnish prescriptions were presented in pharmacies in different 1317 Member States in order to assess whether pharmacists would dispense the prescribed product. Products were dispensed in fewer than half of cases.(San Miguel, Baeten et al., 1318 1319 2013)

#### 1320 **Telehealth and telecare**

Advances in electronic communications have enabled patients in one Member State to be 1321 1322 diagnosed and treated by health professionals in another Member State by means of 1323 telehealth and telecare. A systematic review was conducted of studies that described the 1324 use of telehealth and telecare to deliver cross-border health care and identify the factors 1325 that hinder or support its implementation.(Saliba, Legido-Quigley et al., 2012) Ninety 1326 four papers were included in the final analysis. They involved 76 countries worldwide, 1327 most involving collaborations between high and low or middle income countries. Most 1328 described services delivering a combination of types of telehealth and telecare but specialties most represented were telepathology, telesurgery, Emergency and trauma 1329 1330 telehealth and telecare and teleradiology. Most link health professionals, with only a few 1331 linking professionals directly to patients. A main driver for the development of cross-1332 border telehealth and telecare is the need to improve access to specialist services in low 1333 and middle income countries and in underserved rural areas in high income countries.

Factors that hinder or support implementation clustered into four main themes: (1) legal factors; (2) sustainability factors; (3) cultural factors; and (4) contextual factors.

1336 A qualitative study of a teleradiology clinic in Barcelona, offering services to hospitals in a 1337 range of European countries, was undertaken to identify the challenges faced in providing such a service.(Legido-Quigley, Doering et al., 2014) It identified the need for a clear 1338 1339 legal framework to govern such services, especially in relation to areas such as redress 1340 and liability and comparability of clinical governance arrangements. For example, 1341 patients in Sweden benefit from a no-fault compensation scheme when treated by domestic providers but this does not extend to providers established abroad. In other 1342 1343 areas there is a European legal framework, such as data transfer, but one Member State, 1344 the UK, insisted on additional, highly complex provisions.

1345 These studies provide a basis for further legal clarification to ensure quality and safety.

#### 1346Ensuring overall quality of care in another Member State

#### 1347 **Quality assurance activities**

Can a patient obtaining treatment in another Member State be assured that there are 1348 1349 systems in place to ensure overall quality? The Directive directly refers to quality and 1350 safety in several Articles. Article 4 states that cross-border health care is provided in 1351 accordance with the legislation of the Member State of treatment, the European Union 1352 legislation on safety standards, and the standards and guidelines on quality and safety 1353 laid down by the Member State of treatment. However, a comprehensive review of 1354 systems to ensure quality in Member States, undertaken within the EU-funded Europe for 1355 Patients project, found that there was little information on systems in place in many 1356 member States and those that were often had been implemented on a small scale and 1357 had rarely been subject to evaluation.(Legido-Quigley, McKee et al., 2008; Legido-1358 Quigley, McKee et al., 2008)

1359 Member States of treatment should ensure that health care providers provide quality and 1360 safety information. The Member State of affiliation may refuse to grant prior 1361 authorisation where it has grounds to believe that the patient would be exposed to safety risks or where the cross-border health care would be provided by a health care provider 1362 1363 about which there are concerns in terms standards and guidelines on quality of care and 1364 patient safety (Art 8). A cross-sectional survey of cardiology departments in 315 1365 hospitals in the Czech Republic, France, Poland and Spain showed that although certain 1366 quality and safety requirements are frequently met (administrative support or informed 1367 consent using forms in various EU languages) others are largely absent (existence of 1368 case-managers, communication with patients' general practitioners). (Groene and Sunol,

1369 2010) Additionally, communication problems meant that patients were poorly informed 1370 about their condition and treatment. The EU funded study "Methods of Assessing 1371 Response to Quality Improvement Strategies" (MARQuIS) on cross-border care explored 1372 the quality improvement strategies in health care systems across the European Union 1373 (EU). Data from 389 acute hospitals in eight Member States found that structures and 1374 processes to ensure safety were generally well developed but there was considerable 1375 variation in the implementation of mechanisms to promote patient safety such as 1376 electronic prescribing systems.

#### 1377 Guideline development

1378 One means of improving quality of care involves the development and implementation of 1379 evidence-based guidelines. A recent survey found that most Member States have some 1380 system in place to develop clinical guidelines, with processes taking place at national, regional and local levels.(Legido-Quigley, Panteli et al., 2012) However the processes 1381 1382 used vary greatly, especially in respect to the explicit use of evidence and the 1383 transparency of the process. Only a very few Member States, such as Latvia, place 1384 guideline development on a statutory basis. However, some have national, or in the case 1385 of NICE, which covers only England within the UK, sub-national bodies responsible for 1386 guideline development while in others, such as France, national bodies provide overall 1387 guidance on guideline development. Although there is widespread acceptance of the 1388 value of the AGREE instrument, which set out criteria for assessing guideline quality, it is only used to a limited extent while a few Member States have adopted similar 1389 1390 instruments. Several member States do not have any mechanisms for assessing 1391 quideline quality.

A related study undertook a systematic review of studies of implementation of guidelines in member States.(Brusamento, Legido-Quigley et al., 2012) It identified only 21 studies. Few examined the cost of implementation or outcomes of care. It was concluded that there was a need for a substantial expansion of research on strategies to implement clinical guidelines in Europe.

A further systematic review examined those studies that have used the AGREE instrument to assess the quality of clinical guidelines in Europe, identifying nine studies that had assessed 28 guidelines.(Knai, Brusamento et al., 2012) The main weaknesses identified were in areas of editorial independence, stakeholder involvement, and rigour of development. The authors concluded that there was considerable scope for improvement.

A reflection should be added about the relationship between "guidelines" and "multimorbidity". Nowadays, as multi-morbidity becomes the rule rather than the exception, we are confronted with the need for a paradigm shift in patients with multi-morbidity.

1405 Yearly, implementing the disease specific guidelines, will lead to contradictions in patients 1406 with multi-morbidity (e.g. a patient with COPD and diabetes: when using corticosteroids 1407 for COPD, this will worsen the diabetes). Moreover, there is a fundamental "intellectual" 1408 problem when applying these specific guidelines to patients with multi-morbidity as the 1409 evidence that underpins the guideline, comes from RCTs where "patient with co-1410 morbidity were excluded". These fundamentally questions the use of those guidelines in 1411 patients with multi-morbidity. Therefore, a paradigm-shift from "disease-oriented" towards "goal-oriented care" is needed (De Maeseneer J et al., Jul 2012). 1412

#### 1413 Ensuring overall quality of care in when crossing borders

#### 1414 **Continuity of care**

Several articles in the Directive relate to continuity of care for patients crossing borders. 1415 1416 Thus, the Member State of treatment should ensure continuity of care by providing 1417 patients the access to a written/electronic medical record of such treatment (Art 4); the 1418 Member State of affiliation, where a patient has received cross-border health care and 1419 where medical follow-up is necessary, should provide the same medical follow-up as it would have been if that health care had been provided on its territory (Art 5); 1420 prescriptions issued in another MS should be recognised, under certain conditions, "in 1421 1422 order to ensure continuity of treatment in cases where a prescription is issued in the Member State of treatment" (discussed above). 1423

1424 Discharge from hospital can be a challenging time for patients, particularly for patients 1425 who have received care abroad<sup>1</sup>. The EU funded "MARQUIS" project called for a 1426 standardised European discharge summary and the EU funded project "HANDOVER" 1427 found many problems in the discharge process within countries, attributed to a deep 1428 focus of hospital providers and a low priority attributed to the provision of comprehensive 1429 discharge summaries. HANDOVER depicted that the amount and quality of information 1430 families, provided to patients, and primary care providers was often insufficient.(Hesselink, Flink et al., 2012; Hesselink, Vernooij-Dassen et al., 2013) 1431 1432 Additionally, discharge summaries within EU countries vary greatly. Indeed, while some 1433 countries propose national standards or suggest minimum data requirements, others 1434 propose a standard form for all electronic discharge summaries or a set of national 1435 standard headings for the structure and content of clinical records including discharge summaries. As presented in the conclusions of the opinion, a European harmonised 1436 1437 discharge summary has been recently suggested.

Health professionals report limited knowledge of processes that might support continuity
of care across borders. (Glonti, Hawkesworth et al. (in press)) There are, however,
examples of good practice that can be learned from, such as the provision of dialysis

services to tourists visiting the Veneto Region of Italy, the subject of a recent casestudy.(Footman, Mitrio et al. (in press))

#### 1443 **Obtaining information**

1444 One of the crucial elements of the cross-border Directive is the empowerment of patients 1445 to make informed choices when seeking health care abroad. Consequently, it makes 1446 provision for the establishment of national contact points (NCPs) that will provide 1447 potential patients with clear information on their rights to seek treatment across Member 1448 States, as well as the information they need on quality and safety standards enforced in 1449 the country of interest and any specific medical, organisational and financial aspects of 1450 the health care services and the treatment options on offer. Two recent studies are 1451 relevant to NCPs. A study of the experiences of German patients choosing hospital care 1452 abroad found that most (49%) obtained information from health care professionals on 1453 health-related (hospital performance and professional qualifications), and financial issues 1454 (coverage of costs by insurers and reimbursement mechanisms). The second study 1455 evaluated the quality of information on NCP websites (Santoro et al, in press). It found that the websites that do exist provide much of the information required, including 1456 1457 quality and safety standards as well as information on patients' rights and entitlements, 1458 complaints procedures, and mechanisms to seek remedies and to settle disputes. 1459 However, not all Member States have created websites and some of those that do exist 1460 lack key information.

#### 1461 European Reference Networks

The Commission supports Member States in the development of European reference networks that can provide highly specialist care for patients with rare diseases. A prerequisite is the compilation of the criteria and conditions for the establishment and evaluation of reference networks and health care providers in it.

1466 It is possible to learn from experiences of existing bilateral collaborations. One such example is the longstanding Malta-UK collaboration that enables Maltese patients access 1467 1468 to highly specialized care that is not available locally. A study using interviews with policy 1469 makers, clinicians, and parents of children obtaining treatment identified four factors that 1470 facilitated implementation of what was considered a successful programme: long 1471 established personal relationships; communication and data sharing; shared care 1472 approach; and well established support systems. The key challenges are logistical, 1473 financial, communication and cultural and psychological (Saliba, Muscat et al., 2014).

#### 1475 Health services in border regions

1476 The Directive encourages Member States to conclude agreements among themselves that enable co-operation in health care provision in border regions. Information and 1477 1478 communication technology (ICT) is identified as a key pillar to strengthen such cooperation across countries. Member States are also requested to ensure that 1479 1480 information on the right to practise of health professionals listed national registries is 1481 made available to other Member States. Mutual assistance should be boosted also in 1482 relation to the exchange on information referred to standards and guidelines on guality 1483 and safety.

1484 Given that patient mobility in border regions concerns mostly secondary care the 1485 Directive focuses on hospitals. A recent publication investigating strengths and weaknesses of hospital collaborations across borders identified several concerns.(Glinos 1486 1487 and Wismar, 2013) The solutions adopted were often extremely complex as the facilities in each member State remain are anchored in their domestic health systems and 1488 1489 authorities tend to prioritise domestic solutions to service provision. Moreover, benefits are often stakeholders-oriented rather than patients-oriented and, in some cases, the 1490 1491 role of the EU was perceived to be marginal.

1492

#### 1494

1495

## 3.5 INFORMATION NEEDED. ASSESSING QUALITY INDICATORS

- 1496 Member States and European Union have developed information systems capable to offer 1497 ample information for institutions, professionals and patients, to monitor health care 1498 quality.
- 1499

1500 Some initiatives have been performed till now: OECD-Health Care Quality Indicators 1501 Project (HCQI), European Community Health Indicators (ECHI), WHO-European Health-1502 For-All Database (HFA-DB), Social Protection Committee Indicators, Eurostat indicators, 1503 etc. Health Care Quality Indicators Project is an integral part of the activities of the EU in 1504 the areas of health indicators and health systems. The objective of HCQIP is to establish 1505 international definitions on a limited number of recognized quality indicators and to 1506 identify additional evidence-based quality indicators. The EU Commission provides 1507 financial support for HCQIP.

1508

The selection criteria for good indicators have been suggested by several authors. The Expert Panel adopted the definition by Mainz (Mainz J, 2003). The key characteristics are stated as follows: first of all an indicator should be based on agreed definitions, and it should also be described exclusively and exhaustively; it should be highly specific and sensitive, valid and reliable; it should discriminates well and be related to clearly identifiable events for the user; it also should permit useful comparisons and be evidence-based.

1516

DG SANCO promoted a study on "Evaluation of the use and impact of the European Community Health Indicators by Member States" (August 2013). Among its conclusions the report stated that there is a general consensus on having a system of European Indicators like ECHI in place (page 10). The report also stated that it is necessary to review the management (from "project-based" to "institutional-based") and to reinforce its financial stability.

1523

1524 In another context, a report by the Committee on Quality Measures in the US (IOM 2013) 1525 recommended the adoption of a logic model or conceptual framework to help identify loci 1526 for measures; the adoption of a set of recommended criteria to select measures of 1527 quality; a system to manage measures and an entity to endorse measures of quality for 1528 the multisectoral health system.

On the other hand, if the development of indicators is important, it is also important to develop the capacity to create information and operative tools useful for different stakeholders (policy makers, managers, health professionals, patients and citizens). Building information systems, such as patient's registries, post-market efficacy studies for assessment of risk benefit, or comparative (relative) effectiveness research, are needed for assessing quality.

1536

# DEFINITION AND DEVELOPMENT OF INDICATORS



EXPH, 2014

- 1538
- 1539 The EXPH considers that
- 1540
- a) It would be useful to develop a Health System Performance Assessment Framework at
- 1542 EU level, in order to better identify the dimensions and quality measures required.
- 1543
- b) At the same time it seems convenient to define the institutional structure responsiblefor the management of the Information of Health Systems at EU level.
- 1546
- 1547 The EXPH believe that the Commission should lead an initiative to define with MS a 1548 Framework for HSPA, including quality of care and patient safety, and a common and 1549 comprehensive set of indicators, based in ECHI, SPC-Health indicators or OECD-HCQI.
- 1550

1551 The Commission should also define through which structure the information system 1552 should be managed (elaboration of information, dissemination, support training and 1553 motivation of health professionals and decision makers to benefit from the use of the 1554 Framework and the information system, support performance assessment, etc).

1555

1556 Proposal for additional indicators.

1557

1558 In the process of elaborating this Opinion we have identified certain aspects that, being 1559 important for Health Quality measurement, seemed not sufficiently covered by the 1560 forementioned set of indicators.

1561

1562 The EXPH suggests that, after the EU decides the managerial structure for the health 1563 information system, indicators to measure these further aspects should be defined and 1564 developed.

1565

For those indicators listed below and followed by an asterisk, an international benchmark
could be identified. Indicators without an international benchmark have also been
considered because of their relevance to the mandate.

#### 1569 **1. Process indicators**

#### PATIENT SAFETY

- Are patient safety strategies or programs in place?\* (SANCO reports to Council 2012/2014)
- Is there established and functioning an adverse events information system?\* (see: PSQCWG subgroup report (1) 2014)

## APPROPRIATENESS

- Proportion of professionals that attend continuing education programmes on a regular basis, including patient safety\*
- Proportion of centres/professionals that adhere to appropriate (up-to-date evidence based) clinical guidelines
- Proportion of Health Care centres/professional assessed through systematic processes

#### PATIENT-CENTREDNESS

#### Respect

• Percentage of patients who feel they were treated with respect in their interaction with the health care system/ organisation

#### Information and communication

- Proportion of patients who declared they were given the right amount of easily understandable information to enable them to participate actively in medical decisions.
- Proportion of patients and families who are able to comprehend the information and instructions given to them in relation to discharge or transfer to other care institutions

#### Access to care and responsiveness

• Evidence that a mechanism to capture patients' and families/ carers' feedback is in place and is used as learning and improvement resource.

#### Continuity and transition of care

 Proportion of patients/families who experience the care process as being "joined up" according to their needs

#### Patient choice and empowerment

- Proportion of patients with chronic conditions who actively participate in the development of a treatment plan focusing on their goals (in terms of quantity and quality of life) with their health care provider
- Assessment of availability of professional-led, or peer-led, education/training programmes for patients to enable them participate in decisions relating to their

	health and care, and to support self-management of chronic conditions.
Pa	atient/Citizen involvement in health policy at all levels
•	Patient and Patient Organisations meaningful participation in planning, mana
	and regulation of health services
2.	Outcome indicators
PF	REVENTING PEOPLE FROM DYING PREMATURELY
Ba	bies and young children
•	Neonatal mortality rate is the number of neonates dying before reaching 2
	of age, per 1,000 live births in a given year*
•	Infant mortality is the death of a child less than one year of age*
Cā	ardiovascular disease
•	Mortality rate from cardiovascular disease in people under 70 years of age
Re	espiratory disease
•	Mortality rate from respiratory disease in people under 70 years of age*
Liv	ver disease
•	Mortality rate from liver disease in people under 70 years of age*
Cā	ancer patients
•	Five years survival from all cancers. In additions specific data on cancer s
	in children (under 15 years of age), in breast cancer, in prostate cancer,
	cancer and in colorectal cancer should be collected*
Ps	ychiatric disease
•	Mortality rate in people under 70 years of age, who have a diagnos
	serious mental illness*
Elo	derly people
•	Life expectancy at 75 years of age (the life expectancy of both males and f
	should be monitored)*
E٢	NHANCING QUALITY OF LIFE FOR PEOPLE WITH LONG-TERM CONDITION
•	Proportion of patients that feel supported in managing their o
	condition in a national/European patient survey
•	Employment of people with long-term conditions (separate analysis
	employment of people with mental illness should be included) $st$
•	Emergency-based hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care se

• Emergency-based hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions (both in adults and in children with chronic conditions)\*

HELPING PEOPLE TO RECOVER FROM EPISODES OF ILL HEALTH OR FOLLOWING INJURY Emergency admissions within 30 days of discharge from hospital\* Total health gain as assessed by patients for elective procedures (hip replacement, knee replacement, cholecystectomy, cataract surgery) • Functionality independence measure at discharge and 6 months after severe trauma\* • Functionality independence measure at discharge and 6 months after stroke\* • Functionality independence measure at discharge and 6 months after fragility fracture\* The proportion of elderly patients (over 75 years) who are offered **rehabilitation** following discharge from acute or community hospital **ENSURING THAT PEOPLE HAVE A POSITIVE EXPERIENCE OF CARE** Patients experience of service/care with FFT\* (indicator on positive experience of care is also included under "patient-centredness" section) TREATING AND CARING FOR PEOPLE IN A SAFE ENVIRONMENT AND PROTECTING THEM FROM AVOIDABLE HARM Patient safety **incidents reported**\* ٠ Safety incidents involving severe harm or death\* • **Hospital deaths** and the hospital deaths attributable to problems in care\* • **Deaths from venous thromboembolism** (VTE) related events\* ٠ Incidence of health care associated infection (HCAI) (MRSA, C. difficile)\* **EFFICIENCY AND EQUITY INDICATORS are listed in section 3.** 

1577 1578

1575

- 1570
- 1579
- 1580
- 1581

#### 1582 **3. Economic indicators**

#### **EFFICIENCY**

Outcomes (see WG outcomes)

Responsiveness (see WHO)

- Timeliness of treatment (waiting lists and waiting times)
- Patient satisfaction

#### Expenditures

Health care expenditures

- %GDP, per capita spending (€PPP)\*
- Public spending on health as % GDP
- Public spending on health as a share of public spending
- Public as % total spending on health
- OOP as % total spending on health
- Break down per sector/disease
- Process: good accounting practice NHA

#### **Financial protection**

• The incidence of catastrophic and impoverishing out-of-pocket payments

#### Equity

- Distribution of (healthy) life expectancy (according to socio-economic characteristics)
- Distribution of health care utilization across relevant (socio-economic) groups (in relation to need)
- Distribution of catastrophic and impoverishing out-of-pocket payments across socio-economic groups
- Distribution of health care financing mechanisms (Kakwani index)

## **MESO LEVEL**

- Link between payment and outcome at meso level
- Process: quality measurement and audits

## MICRO LEVEL

• Systematic use of cost-effectiveness analysis in funding and guidelines

1583

1585 1586

#### 3.6. PROPOSED ACTIONS AT EU LEVEL

The 21<sup>st</sup> Century is confronting health systems with new (and not so new) challenges, and with new opportunities. Economic crises, epidemiological trends, cultural changes, technological revolutions, etc., are posing risks and creating possibilities to maintain and improve European Health Systems. One of the four common values of our Health Systems is access to high quality and safety services.

1592

1593 Since health-care costs, quality, and outcomes vary widely, there is enormous potential 1594 for European research into health systems to enable countries to make their systems 1595 more efficient and to improve outcomes. Research into these issues can make important 1596 contributions to national policy development and bring improvements even in highly cost-1597 constrained health systems. Research priorities for Horizon 2020 seem to neglect 1598 research questions considered very important by health policymakers and leaders at a 1599 national and European level, such as the quality and safety of health care, the financial sustainability and productivity of health systems, innovations in health-care organisation 1600 1601 and delivery, the effectiveness and efficiency with which health-care interventions are 1602 used, and the health-care workforce.

1603

The EU Commission could play a crucial role in boosting the improvement of the quality of health care and the safety of patients. Specifically, the EXPH identified a list of actions to be taken at EU level leading to an improvement of the core dimensions of the quality of health care which, in turn, reflect into benefits of the overall framework. The EU could support these initiatives, giving "high-priority" to the key interventions (listed as "HP").

- 1609 Broadly, EU proposed actions could be focused on:
- 1610

1611 0. The utilization of a comprehensive conceptual framework in relation to quality and 1612 safety

- 1613 1. Guideline development and the sharing of good practices
- 1614 2. Funding research related to quality and safety
- 1615 3. Economic issues related to the defined quality dimensions
- 1616 4. Education and training in their new roles for both patients and health professionals
- 1617 5. Information technology and information systems significant for health quality and 1618 safety
- 1619 6. Quality and safety aspects of the burden of chronic diseases and inequalities in health
- 1620 7. The HTA network; increasing attention for Health System Impact Assessment
- 1621 8. Miscellaneous recommendations
- 1622
- 1623

- 1624 *Guideline development and the sharing of good practices*
- HP: To establish an EU Health Care Quality Board (Management/Team) for the
   coordination of all EU initiatives in HCQ.
- HP: to establish a Health System Performance Analysis Framework at EU level to
   facilitate comparison of health policies and their impact on different dimensions of
   health systems.
- HP: to initiate a process at EU level (perhaps via the PSQCWG) aimed at persuading
   Council to make a Recommendation on health care quality similar to the one that it
   made on patient safety in 2009.
- HP: to develop and promote European guidelines and checklists for similar conditions
   across EU MS and regions to ensure common approaches and procedures (for
   example as in the GRADE project.).
- To promote the inclusion of economic evidence into medical guidelines.
- To promote further research on the interprofessional transferability of good practices
   (for example as in WP3 of the EMPATHIE project).
- To support research into the impact of good practice repositories (as for example is
   being developed within the EIP on AHA).
- 1641
- 1642 Funding research related to quality and safety
- HP: to promote further research on the potential economic benefits of a patient
   centred approach.
- HP: to support further research on the redesigning of health systems aimed at
   responding to current challenges within and outside of health systems (in line with
   current themes within the Horizon 2020 programme).
- To support research on the expectations of patients and their fulfilment, evaluating
   the patient experience in the context of the "patient journey".
- To support research into defining patient centred health care including the
   development of indicators for use by MS to assess the level of patient centredness in
   their health care systems and organisations.
- 1653
- 1654 *Economic issues related to the defined quality dimensions*
- HP: Promote the further development and systematic use of economic evaluations in
   health care, with an emphasis on enabling its use in all relevant sectors and
   strengthening the link between HTA and health care decision making at different
   levels.
- HP: Promote research aimed at development of efficiency measures, especially at the
   macro- and meso-level. This includes development of methods, but also routine
   collection of data.

- HP: Promote the use of registries to collect data on health care quality and efficiency
   of different treatment options
- HP: Promote the further systematic use of advanced measures of equity in health
   (health, health care and health care financing), through collection of required data in
   a uniform manner within Europe.
- 1667

#### 1668 Education and training in their new roles for both patients and health professionals

- HP: to continue supporting MS in promoting continuing education and training
   programmes to improve the quality of health care services and to promote
   revalidation of Doctors with an appraisal every 5 years, including patient safety
   education and training.
- HP: to support MS in promoting education and training on patient safety for patient's
   families and informal carers, setting benchmarks and identifying best practices.
- HP: to promote the training of health professionals in their new role of "trainers" for patients with chronic conditions and in addition develop ways, means time and motivation for professionals to learn better communication skills to engage and involve patients in their care.
- To recognise and support the new role for the involvement of patients, carers and patient associations as key partners in health services and in the health system,
   particularly in planning health services, assessment of patient needs and preferences,
   assessing quality of care by developing patient feedback as a learning and quality
   improvement resource and involvement of the above in policy at all levels.
- To share methodologies and approaches to optimise the involvement of health
   professionals in health system performance (clinical governance) and in the
   coordination/integration and continuity of care.
- 1687

#### 1688 Information technology and information systems significant for health quality and safety

- HP: to further promote the development of blame free reporting and learning
   systems, encouraging reporting by health professionals and valuing the input from
   patients on patient safety incidents.
- HP: to promote the implementation, evaluation and access to systems in MS to
   ensure that health care providers make available quality and safety information about
   their activities.
- HP: to continue to support the development of harmonised EU wide surveillance of
   health care associated infections.
- To promote a more transparent approach to data sharing in the field of medicines
   regulation (e.g. the release of data on adverse reactions)

- To coordinate the use of big-data and case-registries to improve knowledge and
   support health care quality strategies.
- To support through evidence based knowledge, legal clarification on the use and
   implementation of telehealth and telecare to deliver cross-border health care.
- 1703
- 1704 Quality and safety aspects of the burden of chronic diseases and inequalities in health
- HP: To support the implementation of quality and safety aspects including patient
   empowerment in the context of ongoing policy work in this area (for example the
   Joint Action on Chronic Diseases).
- HP: To promote definition of priorities for health care effectiveness in the context of
   chronic disease and also tackling health inequalities.
- To support MS in the further development of European Reference Networks that can
   provide highly specialised care for patients with rare diseases.
- To Encourage MS to implement National Contact Points` websites to provide clear
   information on patients` rights to seek treatment across other MS particularly
   providing information on the quality and safety standards available in that MS and
   any specific medical, organisational or financial aspects of their health care services.
- 1716
- 1717 The HTA network
- HP: to promote and support the further balanced development of HTA practices in all EU countries within EUnetHTA through exchange of research outcomes and knowledge among the relevant institutes and organisations including voluntary networks.
- To promote further cooperation on HTA studies at an international level and above
   all, support their transferability and adaptation in national environments.
- To promote original HTA research based on clinical data as well as systematic
   reviews within EUnetHTA.
- 1726
- 1727 *Miscellaneous recommendations (further to the categories listed above)*
- HP: to research into the impact on quality of care of workforce shortages, burnout
   and poor working conditions (for example the ORCAB project).
- HP: to support MS in defining and developing clear processes to regulate health
   professionals across the EU in order to ensure that national and foreign health
   professionals are qualified and fit to practice.
- To support strategies to ensure continuity of care for patients crossing borders (for
   example appropriate sharing of written or electronic records).
- To implement a new, more transparent approach to data sharing (EMA)
- To set up a website for the collection of the MS data.

To standardize in health care services: it is a long-term objective that has to be built
 over previous work (see "Proposed Actions") and should be leaded by health
 authorities.
- 1741 3.7. ADDED VALUE OF PROPOSED ACTIONS AT EU LEVEL 1742 1743 The aforementioned actions could lead to an added value for the quality of care and 1744 patient safety at EU level. 1745 1746 Value of quality in health care: per se 1747 Dealing with the issue of quality in health care at European level means facing an extremely heterogeneous background in search of a common denominator that should 1748 1749 really represent a guarantee of efficacy and safety of treatments for European citizens 1750 and a vector of continuous improvement for health care systems in EU MSs. 1751 1752 Measuring, evaluating and comparing the quality of health care systems at EU level is 1753 important for three main reasons: to promote accountability, to inform effective policy 1754 development, and to help health care providers learning from each another. 1755 1756 There are now few health care policy initiatives that do not seek to improve the quality of 1757 care in Europe, or that do not depend on being able to measure the quality of care. 1758 However, to achieve 'quality-led governance', it is necessary to measure whether or not 1759 1760 the system is delivering effective, safe and patient-centred care and to promote the 1761 creation of European common quality standards in health care. 1762 1763 A number of factors are making health policies and health systems across the European 1764 Union increasingly interconnected and the Cross Border Healthcare Directive 1765 (2011/24/EU) represent one of most important example of this and a great opportunity 1766 to be seized in order to shape effectively European quality standards capable to influence 1767 each MSs in providing health care to every person. 1768 1769 Financial value of quality in health care 1770 The European welfare and health care systems are the most comprehensive and secure 1771 because they are based on a social guarantees framework. 1772 1773 However, an increasing number of signs indicate that, at their current rate of growth and 1774 under the pressure of the spending reviews imposed by the financial crisis, European
  - society's ability to invest in health care, research, education and additional aspects of theeconomy becomes ever more limited.
  - 1777

1778 In fact, while health care discussions focus predominantly on controlling costs, it is the 1779 concept of health that should be uppermost, valorising the socio-economic impact of 1780 investments on social guarantees.

1781

Commonly, we have two streams of concern—quality improvement and cost containment—that create conflicting incentives for both, citizens and health care professionals. Some quality improvement initiatives are designed to improve patient selfmanagement by increasing participation in specific high-value interventions that are becoming costlier to patients. Others to shape facilitated path for specific diseases through the value framework in health care, e.g. the systems, networks and pathways approach.

1789

Measurable clinical efficiency can then be defined by combining composites of quality with resource use-cost measures in the same population of patients. The choice of what level (individual clinicians, sites, groups, integrated delivery systems, health plans) of the health care system to attribute measures of quality and resource use is also a major challenge with important trade off.

1795

1796 Measuring, reporting, and comparing outcomes at EU level are perhaps the most 1797 important steps toward rapidly improving outcomes and making good choices about 1798 reducing costs in each MSs. Systematic, rigorous outcome measurement remains rare, 1799 but a growing number of examples of comprehensive outcome measurement provide 1800 evidence of its feasibility and impact.

1801

1802 Value of quality in health care and his role in addressing inequalities in EU MSs

1803 Inequalities in health have been an important part of the work of the European Union 1804 (EU) since 1992 when specific competencies for public health were included in the 1805 Maastricht treaty. However, large differences in health still exist between and within all 1806 countries in the EU, and some of these inequalities are widening.

1807

These inequalities have significant economic implications for the EU and for member states. When health is valued as a capital good, inequalities related losses have been estimated to cost around  $\in$ 141 billion in 2004 or 1.4% of GDP. This rises sharply to 1811  $\in$ 1,000 billion or 9.5% of GDP when health is valued as a consumption good 1812 (Mackenbach, 2007).

1813

1814The European Portal for Actions on Health Inequalities (<a href="http://www.health-inequalities.eu">http://www.health-inequalities.eu</a>), part of Equity Action (the Joint Action on Health Inequalities) funding by

European Union in the framework of the Health Programme, presents data and some examples about the current state of heath inequalities between MSs:
More than five times as many babies die before the age of one in some countries than in others;

In 2007, between Member States, there was an 8-year difference in life
 expectancy at birth for women and a 14-year gap for men;

Large differences of up to 20 years exist in the number of years lived in good
 health (Healthy Life Years);

- Roma populations can expect to live 10 years less than the majority population in
   some countries.
- Differences in life expectancy at birth between lowest and highest socio-economic
   groups reach 10 years for men and 6 years for women.
- 1829

Although there are few and recent policy initiatives that seek to directly address health
inequalities in Europe, different programmes and projects clearly acknowledge the need
to fight inequalities as a prerequisite for growth and competitiveness.

1833

1834 In June 2010 the EU adopted its new strategy "Europe 2020: A strategy for smart, 1835 sustainable and inclusive growth". This process will undoubtedly impact health 1836 inequalities between and within EU countries, above all with the European platform 1837 against poverty and social exclusion, one of the Commission's seven 'flagship initiatives'. 1838

Similarly, working on the creation of European common quality standards in health care through clear directives, e.g. the 2011/24/EU, undoubtedly EU will address inequalities effectively, helping local governments in take the right decisions and implementing the correct policies and avoiding the increase of "push"- and "pull"-factors caused by health inequalities.

- 1844
- 1845

#### 1846 **4. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS** 1847 1848 AGREE Appraisal of Guidelines for Research and Evaluation COPD 1849 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 1850 **Cross Europe** proj. European Cross Border Care Collaborations 1851 **CT** scan Computerised Tomography scan 1852 **DECIDE** project Developing and Evaluating Communication Strategies to Support 1853 Informed Decisions and Practice Based on Evidence 1854 **DG SANCO** Directorate-General for Health and Consumers, European 1855 Commission 1856 DTP Diphtheria, Tetanus and Pertussis 1857 **DUQuE** project Deepening our Understanding of Quality improvement in Europe 1858 EAHC Executive Agency for Health and Consumers 1859 EASHW European Agency for Safety and Health at Work 1860 EC **European Commission** 1861 European Community Health Indicators ECHI 1862 ECHOUTCOME proj. European Consortium in Healthcare Outcomes and Cost-Benefit 1863 research 1864 EFTA European Free Trade Association 1865 EIP-AHA European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing 1866 EMA **European Medicines Agency** 1867 **EMPATHIE** project Empowering patients with chronic diseases 1868 **ENOPE** European Network on Patient Empowerment EPF European Patients' Forum 1869 1870 EU European Union 1871 European network for Health Technology Assessment **EUnetHTA** 1872 EXPH Expert Panel on effective ways of investing in Health 1873 FFT Friends and Family Test 1874 GDP Gross Domestic Product 1875 G-I-N Guidelines International Network General Practicioner 1876 GP 1877 **GRADE** project Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and 1878 Evaluation 1879 HANDOVER project Improving the Continuity of Patient Care Through Identification and 1880 Implementation of Novel Patient Handover Processes in Europe 1881 HCAI Health Care Associated Infection 1882 HCQI(P) Health Care Quality Indicators (Project) 1883 HFA-DB European Health for All Database

1884	НР	Health Professionals / High Priority
1885	HSPA	Health Systems Performance Assessment
1886	НТА	Health Technology Assessment
1887	ΙΑΡΟ	International Alliance of Patients' Organisations
1888	ICT	Information and Communication Technology
1889	INAHTA	International Network of Agencies for Health Technology
1890		Assessment
1891	InterQuality proj.	International Research Project on Financing Quality in Health Care
1892	INN	International Non-proprietary Names
1893	IOM	Institute of Medicine
1894	JCAHO	Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations
1895	LINNEAUS project	Learning from International Networks about Errors and
1896		Understanding Safety in Primary Care
1897	LRTI	Lower Respiratory Tract Infection
1898	MArquiS project	Methods of Assessing Response to Quality Improvement Strategies
1899	MRSA	Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus
1900	MS	Member States
1901	NCP	National Contact Points
1902	NHS	National Health Service (United Kingdom)
1903	NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (United Kingdom)
1904	OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
1905	OOP	Out-Of-Pocket payment
1906	ORCAB project	Improving quality and safety in the hospital: The link between
1907		organisational culture, burnout, and quality of care
1908	PaSQ	European Union Network for Patient Safety and Quality of Care
1909	PC	Primary Care
1910	PPP	Purchasing Power Parity
1911	PS	Patient Safety
1912	PSQCWG	Patient Safety & Quality of Care Working Group
1913	QALY	Quality Adjusted Life Years
1914	QIS	Quality Improvement Systems
1915	QUALICOPC project	t Quality and costs of primary care in Europe
1916	QUASAR project	Quality and safety in European Union hospitals
1917	RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial
1918	SC	Secondary Care
1919	SImPatIE project	Safety Improvement for Patients in Europe
1920	SPC	Social Protection Committee

1921	тс	Tertiary Care
1922	TFEU	Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union
1923	VTE	Venous ThromboEmbolism
1924	WeCare project	Towards a Sustainable and Affordable Health care
1925	WG	Working Group
1926	WHO	World Health Organisation
1927	WP	Work Package
1928		

#### 1929 **5. REFERENCES**

1930

- 1931 1. Albayati MA, Gohel MS, Patel SR, Riga CV, Chesire NJ, Bickrell CD. 1932 Identification of patient safety improvement targets in successful vascular and 1933 endovascular procedures: analysis of 251 hours of complex arterial surgery. 1934 Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2011 Jun; 41(6): 795-802.
- 19352.Allen N, Pichler F, Wang T, Patel S, Salek S. Development of archetypes for1936non-ranking classification and comparison of European National Health1937Technology Assessment systems. Health Policy. 2013 Dec;113(3):305-12.
- 19383.APPG (2014). All Party Parliamentary Groups on Global Health, et al. Patient1939empowerment: for better quality, more sustainable health services globally.1940London, May 2014.
- 19414.Ashworth, M. & Armstrong, D. The relationship between general practice1942characteristics and quality of care: a national survey of quality indicators used1943in the UK Quality and Outcomes Framework, 2004-5.
- 19445.Atkins D, et al (2004). Grading quality of evidence and strength of1945recommendations. BMJ 328:1490.
- 19466.Attaran, A., D. Barry, et al. (2012). "How to achieve international action on1947falsified and substandard medicines." BMJ 345: e7381.
- 19487.Bacou J. A sustainable network for patient safety and quality of care. The1949European Network for Patient Safety and Quality. Presentation at PSQCWG1950meeting, Brussels Nov 4 2013.
- 19518.Bal G, Sellier E, Tchouda SD: Improving quality of care and patient safety1952through morbidity and mortality conferences. J Healthc Qual 2014,36:29-36.
- 19539.Barbieri A et al. Effect of clinical pathways in the joint-replacement: a meta1954analysis. BMC Med 2009 Jul 1; 7:32. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-7-32.
- 1955 10. Barlesi F, Boyer L, Doddoli C, Antoniotti S, Thomas P, Auquier P: The place of
  1956 patient satisfaction in quality assessment of lung cancer thoracic surgery.
  1957 Chest 2005,128:3475-81.
- 195811.BEREC (2014). BEREC statement on the second Broadband Quality of Service1959report prepared for the EC BEREC.
- 196012.Bhat, V. N. Institutional arrangements and efficiency of health care delivery1961systems.
- 196213.Boyce MB, Brown JP, Greenhalgh J. The experiences of professionals with1963using information from patient-reported outcome measures to improve the1964quality of healthcare: a systematic review of qualitative research. BMJ Qual1965Saf. 2014 Feb 6. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2013-002524.

- 196614.Brusamento, S., H. Legido-Quigley, et al. (2012). "Assessing the effectiveness1967of strategies to implement clinical guidelines for the management of chronic1968diseases at primary care level in EU Member States: a systematic review."1969Health Policy 107(2-3): 168-183.
- 197015.CED (2010). Reflection paper on "quality of healthcare: policy actions at EU1971level" CED.
- 197216.CED (Council of Europan Dentists). Reflection paper on "quality of healthcare:1973policy actions at EU level". 2010.
- 1974 17. Chapman L. Improving patient care through work-based learning. Nurs Stand.
  1975 2006 Jun 21-27; 20(41):41-5.
- 197618.Commission implementing decision of 22 December 2011 providing the rules1977for the establishment, the management and the functioning of the Network of1978national responsible authorities of eHealth (2011/890/EU).
- 197919.Commission implementing decision of 26 June 2013 providing the rules for the1980establishment and transparent functioning of the Network of national1981authorities and bodies responsible for health technology assessment1982(2013/329/EU).
- 198320.Commission of the European Communities (2008). Green paper on the1984European workforce for health Brussels: Commission of the European1985Communities.
- 198621.Committee on Quality Measures for the Healthy People Leading Indicators;1987Board on Population Health and Health Practice; Institute of Medicine. Quality1988Measures for Population Health and the Leading Health Indicators. IOM, NAS,19892013.
- 199022.Common Indicators of the Open Method of Coordination of Social Policy and1991Social Inclusion.
- 1992 http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/spsi/common\_indicators\_en.htm
- 199323.Connellan C, Sweetman S, Shelley E. Health professionals' adherence to1994stroke clinical guidelines: a review of the literature. Health Policy.2013 Aug;1995111(3):245-63.doi: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2013.05.002.
- 199624.Cooper JB et al. National Patient Safety Foundation agenda for research and1997development in patient safety. Medscape Gen Med. 2000; 2 [14p].
- 199825.Coulter A. Implementing shared decision-making in the UK. A report to the1999Health Foundation. London. The Health Foundation; 2009.
- 200026.Council of Europe. Committee of Ministers (1998). The development and2001implementation of quality improvement systems (QIS) in health care :2002Recommendation No. R(97)17 adopted by the Committee of Ministers of the

- 2003Council of Europe on 30 September 1997 and explanatory memorandum.2004Council of Europe Publ.
- 200527.Council Recommendation of 9 June 2009 on patient safety, including the2006prevention and control of healthcare associated infections (2009/C 151/01).
- 200728.Custer B, Hoch JS. Cost-effectiveness analysis: what it really means for2008transfusion medicine decision making. Transfus Med Rev. 2009; 23(1): 1-12.
- 200929.Cutler DM, McClellan M. Is technological change in medicine worth it? Health2010Affairs 2001; 20(5): 11-29.
- 201130.Damiani G et al. The effectiveness of computerized clinical guidelines in the2012process of care: a systematic review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2010 Jan 4; 10:2.2013doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-10-2.
- 201431.De Allegri M et al. Which factors are important for the successful development2015and implementation of clinical pathways? A qualitative study. BMJ Qual Saf.20162011 Mar; 20(3):203-8. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs.2010.042465.
- 201732.De Belvis AG et al. Can primary care professionals' adherence to Evidence-2018Based Medicine tools improve quality of care in type 2 diabetes mellitus?: a2019systematic review. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2009 Aug; 85(2): 119-31.doi:202010.1016/j.diabres.2009.05.007.
- 202133.De Belvis AG et al. Wait Watchers: the application of a waiting list active2022management program in ambulatory care. Int J Qual Health Care. 2013 Apr;202325(2): 205-12.doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzt015.
- 202434.De Maeseneer J. M., van Driel, M. L., Green, L. A., & van Weel, C. The need for2025research in primary care. Lancet 2003; 363: 1314-19.
- 202635.De Maeseneer J, Roberts RG, Demarzo M, Heath I, Sewankambo N, Kidd MR,2027van Weel C, Egilman D, Boelen C, Willems S. Tackling NCDs: a different2028approach is needed. Lancet. 2012 May 19;379(9829):1860-1
- 202936.De Maeseneer J, Boeckxstaens P. James Mackenzie Lecture 2011:2030multimorbidity, goal-oriented care, and equity. Br J Gen Pract. 20122031Jul;62(600):e522-4
- 203237.Dean JE, Hutchinson A, Escoto KH, Lawson R. Using a multi-method, user2033centred, prospective hazard analysis to assess care quality and patient safety2034in a care pathway. BMC Health Serv Res. 2007 Jun 18; 7:89.
- 203538.DECIDE. Developing and Evaluatiing Communication Strategies to Support2036Informed Decisions and Practice Based on Evidence. <a href="http://www.decide-collaboration.eu/">http://www.decide-</a>2037collaboration.eu/

## 203839.Dick B et al. Clinical pathways in psychiatry and psychotherapy. Nervenarzt.20392006 Jan; 77(1): 12, 14-8, 20-2.

- 2040 40. Donabedian, A. (1980). The definition of quality and approaches to its 2041 assessment. 2042 41. Donabedian, A. (1997). The quality of care - How can it be assessed? 2043 (Reprinted from JAMA, vol 260, pg 1743-1748, 1988). Archives of Pathology & 2044 Laboratory Medicine, 121, 1145-1150. 2045 42. EASHW (2011). Mental health promotion in the workplace. A good practice 2046 report. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2011. 2047 43. Eggiman P. Prevention of intravascular catheter infections. Curr Opin Infect Dis 2048 2007,20:360-9. 2049 44. Etchegaray JM et al. Structuring patient and family involvement in medical 2050 error event disclosure analysis. Health Aff (Millwood).2014 Jan; 33(1):46-52. 2051 doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0831. 2052 45. European Commission (2011) EU Thematic Conference "Promoting mental 2053 health and well-being in workplaces" Berlin, 2011. 2054 46. European Commission (2013) Communication from the Commission to the 2055 European Parliament, the Council and the European Economic and Social 2056 Committee. The annual work programme for European standardisation. (COM 2057 (2013) 561 final. Brussels 31.7.2013. 2058 47. European Commission (2013). Developing an assessment framework in the 2059 area of health based on the Joint Assessment Framework methodology. Final 2060 report. 19 November 2013. DG Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion. SPC/ISG/2013/09/3.1. 2061 European Commission. Eurobarometer. Patient safety and quality of 2062 48. 2063 healthcare. Special Eurobarometer 327. 2010. 2064 http://ec.europa.eu/public opinion/archives/ebs/ebs 327 sum en.pdf. 2065 49. European Commission. Patient Involvement. Eurobarometer Qualitative Study. 2066 May 2012. 2067 50. European Commission. Report from the Commission to the Council on the basis of Member States' reports on the implementation of the Council 2068 2069 Recommendation (2009/C 151/01) on patient safety, including the prevention 2070 and control of healthcare associated infections. 2071 51. European Commission. Investing in Health. Commission Staff working 2072 document. Brussels, 20.2.2013. SWD (2013a) 43 final. 2073 52. European Union (2011). "Directive 2011/24/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 9 March 2011 on the application of patients' rights in 2074 2075 cross-border healthcare." Official Journal of the European Union L88: 48-65.
  - 207653.European Union (2012). Regulation (EU) nº 1025/2012 of the European2077Parliament and the Council of 25 October 2012 on European standardisation.

- 2078 54. European Union (2013). Evaluation of the use and impact of the European
  2079 Community Health Indicators by Member States. Full Report. August 2013.
  2080 Written by: "Public Health Evaluation and Impact Assessment Consortium".
- 208155.European Union. Decision Nº 1082/2013/EU of the European Parliament and of2082the Council of 22 October 2013 on serious cross-border threats to health and2083repealing Decision Nº 2119/98/EC.
- 208456.EXPH (EXpert Panel on effective ways of investing in Health). Definition and2085Endorsement of Criteria to Identify Priority Areas when Assessing the2086Performance of Health Systems, 27 February 2014.
- 2087 57. Fasola G, Aprile G, Marini L, Follador A, Mansutti M, Miscoria M. Drug waste
  2088 minimization as an effective strategy of cost-containment in Oncology. BMC
  2089 Health Serv Res. 2014;14:57.
- 209058.Figueras J, Lessof S, McKee M et al (2009). Health Systems for Health, Wealth2091and Societal Well-Being. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe on2092behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies.
- 209359.Figueras J, McKee M, eds. Health Systems, Health, Wealth and Societal Well-2094being. Maidenhead: Open University Press, 2012.
- 209560.Footman, K., S. Mitrio, et al. ((in press)). "Dialysis services for tourists to the2096Veneto Region: a qualitative study." J Renal Care.
- 209761.Frank RG, Glied S. Changes in mental health financing since 1971: implications2098for policymakers and patients. Health Aff (Millwood). 2006 May-2099Jun;25(3):601-13.
- 2100 62. G-I-N. Guidelines International Network. <u>http://www.g-i-n.net/</u>
- Glinos, I. and M. Wismar (2013). Hospitals and borders: Seven case studies on
  cross-border collaboration and health-system interactions. Brussels, European
  Observatory on Health Systems and Policies.
- Glonti, K., S. Hawkesworth, et al. ((in press)). "European health professionals'
  experience of cross-border care through the lens of three common conditions."
  Eur J Intergrative Med.
- Groene, O. and R. Sunol (2010). "Factors associated with the implementation of quality and safety requirements for cross-border care in acute myocardial infarction: Results from 315 hospitals in four countries." Health Policy 98(2-3): 107-113.
- 2111 66. Gross, R., Tabenkin, H. F., & Brammli-Greenberg, S. Who needs a gatekeeper?
  2112 Patients' views of the role of the primary care physician.
- 211367.Gruen, R. L., Weeramanthri TS, F. A. U., Knight SE, F. A. U., & Bailie, R. S.2114Specialist outreach clinics in primary care and rural hospital settings.

- 2115 68. Gyrd-Hansen D, Olsen KR, Sørensen TH. Socio-demographic patient profiles
  2116 and hospital efficiency: does patient mix affect a hospital's ability to perform?
  2117 Health Policy 2012; 104(2): 136-145.
- 2118 69. Health Foundation. Supporting people who live with long term conditions 2119 patient-centred is not enough. Report of a workshop held on December 11th
  2120 and 12th. London. The Health Foundation; 2008.
- 70. Heijink R, Noethen M, Renaud T, Koopmanschap M, Polder J. Cost of illness: an
  international comparison. Australia, Canada, France, Germany and The
  Netherlands. Health Policy 2008; 88(1): 49-61.
- 2124 71. Henderson GR et al. Use of statistical process control charts in stroke medicine
  2125 to determine if clinical evidence and changes in service delivery were
  2126 associated with improvements in the quality of care. Qual Saf Health Care.
  2127 2008 Aug; 17(4):301-6. doi: 10.1136/qshc.2006.020784.
- 2128 72. Hesselink, G., M. Flink, et al. (2012). "Are patients discharged with care? A
  2129 qualitative study of perceptions and experiences of patients, family members
  2130 and care providers." BMJ Qual Saf 21 Suppl 1: i39-49.
- 73. Hesselink, G., M. Vernooij-Dassen, et al. (2013). "Organizational culture: an
  important context for addressing and improving hospital to community patient
  discharge." Med Care 51(1): 90-98.
- 74. Hoffmann B. Beyer M, Roche J, Gensichen J, Gerlach FM: "Every error counts":
  a web-based incident reporting and learning system for general practice. Qual
  Saf Health Care. 2008 Aug; 17(4): 307-12.
- 213775.Howell E et al. Comparison of patients' assessments of the quality of stroke2138care with audit findings. Qual Saf Health Care 2007 Dec; 16(6): 450-5.
- 2139 76. Hurst J, Jee-Hughes M, Performance Measurement and Performance
  2140 Management in OECD Health Systems.OECD Labour Market and Social Policy
  2141 Occasional Papers Nº 47, DEELSA/ELSA/WD(2000)8, Paris OECD, 2001.
  2142 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1707/788224073731</u>.

2143 <u>http://www.oecd-</u>

# 2144ilibrary.org/docserver/download/5lgsjhvj7rq0.pdf?expires=1399447921&id=id2145&accname=guest&checksum=BED5C14C7DF462C94DF1E2D71E911573

- 2146 77. Hussey PS, de Vries H, Romley J, Wang MC, Chen SS, Shekelle PG, McGlynn
  2147 EA. A systematic review of health care efficiency measures. Health Serv Res.
  2148 2009 Jun;44(3):784-805.
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. Global Burden of Diseases, 2149 78. 2150 and Risk Factors Study 2010 Injuries, (GBD 2010). http://www.healthmetricsandevaluation.org/gbd/research/project/global-2151 burden-diseases-injuries-and-risk-factors-study-2010 2152

2153 79. Institute of Medicine (1990). Medicare: a strategy for quality assurance 2154 Washington DC: National Acadamy Press. 2155 80. Institute of Medicine (2001). Crossing the Quality Chasm. 2156 http://www.iom.edu/Reports/2001/Crossing-the-Quality-Chasm-A-New-2157 Health-System-for-the-21st-Century.aspx 2158 81. Institute of Medicine (2001). Envisioning the national healthcare quality report 2159 IOM. 2160 82. Institute of Medicine. Graham R, Mancher M, Wolman DM, Greenfield S, 2161 Steinberg E, editor(s). Clinical practice guidelines we can trust. Washington 2162 (DC): National Academies Press; 2011. 2p. 2163 83. International Alliance of Patients' Organizations. Patient-Centred Healthcare 2164 Indicators Review. 2012. 2165 http://www.patientsorganizations.org/showarticle.pl?id=1441;n=1441 Jacobs R, Smith P and Street A. Measuring Efficiency in Health Care Analytic 2166 84. 2167 Techniques and Health Policy. Cambridge University Press, 2006. 2168 85. Jamison DT et al. Global Health 2035: a world converging within a generation. 2169 Lancet 2013; 382:1898-955. 2170 86. Jansson M, Kääriäinen M, Kingäs H. Effectiveness of educational programmes 2171 in preventing ventilation-associated pneumonia: a systematic review. J Hosp 2172 Infect 2013 Jul; 84(3):206-14.doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2013.04.009. 2173 87. Joint Action on patient safety and quality of care (PaSQ). <u>http://www.pasq.eu/</u> 88. Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations: National 2174 2175 Library of Healthcare Indicators. Health Plan and Network Edition. Oakbrook 2176 Terrace, IL: Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations; 2177 1997. 2178 89. Kakwani, N. C. 1977. "Measurement of Tax Progressivity: An International 2179 Comparison." Economic Journal 87(345): 71–80. 2180 90. Kakwani, N. C. 1980. Income Inequality and Poverty: Methods of Estimation 2181 and Policy Applications. New York: Oxford University Press. 2182 91. Kakwani K, Wagstaff A, van Doorslaer E. Socioeconomic inequalities in health: 2183 Measurement, computation, and statistical inference. Journal of Econometrics 2184 1997; 77: 87-103. 2185 92. Karunaratne K, Stevens P, Irving J, Hobbs H, Kilbride H, Kingston R, Farmer C. 2186 The impact of pay for performance on the control of blood pressure in people 2187 with chronic kidney disease stage 3-5. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2013; 28(8): 2188 2107-2116. Kavanagh BP (2009) The GRADE System for rating clinical guidelines. PLoS 2189 93. 2190 Med 6(9): e1000094. doi:10.1371/jounal.pmed.1000094.

- 2191 94. Kelley E, Hurst J (2006), Health Care Quality Indicators Project: conceptual
  2192 framework paper, OECD Health Working Papers, N°23, OECD publishing.
  2193 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/440134737301</u>.
- 2194 95. Killaspy H(1), Marston L, Omar RZ, Green N, Harrison I, Lean M, Holloway F,
  2195 Craig T, Leavey G, King M. Service quality and clinical outcomes: an example
  2196 from mental health rehabilitation services in England. Br J Psychiatry. 2013
  2197 Jan;202(1):28-34. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.112.114421.
- 2198 96. Kleefstra S, Kool R, Zandbeit L, de Haes J: An instrument assessing patient
  2199 satisfaction with day care in hospitals. BMC Health Serv Res 2012,125. doi:
  2200 10,1186/1472-6963-12-125.
- 97. Knai, C., S. Brusamento, et al. (2012). "Systematic review of the
  methodological quality of clinical guideline development for the management
  of chronic disease in Europe." Health Policy 107(2-3): 157-167.
- 2204 98. Kovacs E, Schmidt AE, Szocska G, Busse R, McKee M, Legido-Quigley H.
  2205 Licensing procedures and registration of medical doctors in the European
  2206 Union. Clin Med 2014; 14: 229-238.
- 2207 99. Kristensen S et al. Catalogue of Patient Safety Indicators. European Society for
  2208 Quality in Healthcare. Safety Improvement for Patients in Europe (SIMPATIE
  2209 WP4). 2007.
- 2210100.Kronenberg C and Barros PP. Catastrophic healthcare expenditure drivers2211and protection: The Portuguese case. Health Policy. 2014 Mar;115(1):44-51.
- 2212 101. Legido-Quigley H, McKee M, Nolte E, Glinos IA. Assuring the quality of health
  2213 care in the European Union. A case for action. Observatory Studies Series.
  2214 N.12. 2008.
- Legido-Quigley, H. and M. McKee (2010). "Patients seeking treatment abroad."
  BMJ 341: c5769.
- Legido-Quigley, H., D. Panteli, et al. (2012). "Clinical guidelines in the
  European Union: mapping the regulatory basis, development, quality control,
  implementation and evaluation across member states." Health Policy 107(23): 146-156.
- 2221104.Legido-Quigley, H., I. A. Glinos, et al. (2012). "Analysing arrangements for2222cross-border mobility of patients in the European Union: a proposal for a2223framework." Health Policy 108(1): 27-36.
- 2224105.Legido-Quigley, H., M. McKee, et al. (2008). "How can quality of health care be2225safeguarded across the European Union?" BMJ 336(7650): 920-923.
- 2226106.Legido-Quigley, H., M. McKee, et al. (2008). Assuring the quality of health care2227in the European Union. Brussels, European Observatory on Health Systems2228and Policies.

2229 107. Legido-Quigley, H., N. Doering, et al. (2014). "Challenges facing teleradiology 2230 services across borders in the European Union: a qualitative study." Health 2231 Policy and Technology <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.hlpt.2014.04.001</u>. 2232 LINNEAUS. Guide for the use of patient safety tools. http://www.linneaus-108. 2233 pc.eu/cms-assets/documents/61540-144202.deliverable-2-final-wp2.doc LINNEAUS. Patient involvement. 2234 109. http://www.linneaus-pc.eu/cms-2235 assets/documents/65263-4284.review-patient-involvement-in-patient-sa 2236 110. LINNEAUS. Preliminary classification on medication errors in primary care. 2237 http://www.linneaus-pc.eu/cms-assets/documents/65254-857117.deliverable-2238 3-final-wp2.doc 2239 111. LINNEAUS. The Copenhagen statement. Patient involvement final statement. 2240 http://www.linneaus-pc.eu/cms-assets/documents/115462-168299.final-2241 statement-patient-involvement-de Lugtenberg M, Burgers JS, Westert GP. Effects of evidence-based clinical 2242 112. 2243 practice guidelines on quality of care: a systematic review. Qual Saf Health 2244 Care 2009 Oct; 18(5): 385-92. doi: 10.1136/pshc.2008.028043. 2245 113. Mainz J. Defining and classifying clinical indicators for quality improvement. Int 2246 J Qual Health Care 2003; Volume 15, Number 6: pp. 523–530. 2247 114. Makai P, Brouwer WBF, Koopmanschap MA, Stolk EA, Nieboer A. Quality of Life 2248 instruments for economic evaluations in elderly care: a systematic review. 2249 Social Science & Medicine 2014; 102(1): 83-93. 2250 115. Marmot M. Fair Society, Healthy Lives: the Marmot Review : strategic review 2251 of health inequalities in England post-2010. London: Marmot Review; 2010. 2252 116. Marshall S et al. Impact on patient-reported outcome measures on routine 2253 practice: a structural review. J Eval Clin Pract. 2006 Oct; 12 (5): 559-68. 2254 Marshall S, Haywood K, Fitzpatrick R. Impact of patient-reported outcome 117. 2255 measures on routine practice: a structured review. J Eval Clin Pract. 2256 2006,12:559-68. Max Martin H, Larsen J. Patient involvement in patient safety: a literature 2257 118. 2258 review about European Primary Care. The Danish Institute for health services 2259 research. LINNEAUS EURO-PC, 2012. 2260 119. McKee M, Suhrcke M, Nolte E et al (2009). Health systems, health, and 2261 wealth: a European perspective. Lancet 373: 349-51. 120. Meacock R, Kristensen SR, Sutton M. The cost-effectiveness of using financial 2262 2263 incentives to improve provider quality: a framework and application. Health 2264 Econ. 2014 Jan;23(1):1-13.

Meerding WJ, Bonneux L, Polder JJ, Koopmanschap MA, van der Maas PJ. 2265 121. 2266 Demographic and epidemiological determinants of healthcare costs in 2267 Netherlands: cost of illness study. BMJ 1998; 317(7151):111-115 2268 122. Metsälä E, Vaherkoski V. Medication errors in elderly acute care- a systematic 2269 review. Scand J Caring Sci. 2014 Mar; 28(1): 12-28. doi: 10.1111/scs.12034 2270 123. Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo. Plan de Calidad para el Sistema Nacional de 2271 Salud (España) 2006. 2272 Mold JW, Blake GH, Becker LA. Goal-oriented medical care. Fam Med. 1991 124. 2273 Jan;23(1):46-51. 2274 125. Moreno-Serra R, Smith PC. Does progress towards universal health coverage 2275 improve population health? Lancet. 2012 Sep 8;380(9845):917-23. 2276 126. Moreno-Serra R, Thomson S, Xu K (2013). Financial protection, in Smith PC 2277 and I Papanicolas (eds), Health system performance comparison: an agenda 2278 for policy, information and research, Buckingham: Open University Press. O'Donnell, O, E van Doorslaer, A Wagstaff, M Lindelöw, Analyzing Health 2279 127. 2280 Equity using Household Survey Data: a Guide to Techniques and their 2281 Implementation, World Development Institute, World Bank, Washington DC, 2282 2007. 2283 128. OECD (2013) Health at a Glance 2013: OECD indicators, OECD Publishing. 2284 http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/health glance-2013.en 2285 129. OECD (2013). Definitions for Health Care Quality Indicators 2012-2013. HCQI 2286 Data Collection. OECD Health Statistics 2013, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/health-data-en 2287 130. 2288 131. Ong LML, de Haes JCJM, Hoos AM, Lammes FB (1995). Doctor-patient-2289 communication: a review of literature. Soc Sci Med. 40:903-18. 2290 132. PaSQ. Joint action on patient safety and quality of care. http://www.pasq.eu/ 2291 133. Peabody JW, Shimkhada R, Quimbo S, Solon O, Javier X, McCulloch C. The 2292 impact of performance incentives on child health outcomes: results from a cluster randomized controlled trial in the Philippines. Health Policy Plan. 2013 2293 2294 Oct 17. [Epub ahead of print] Peden C, Grocott MP. National Resarch Strategies: what outcomes are 2295 134. 2296 important in peri-operative elderly care? Anesthesia 2014,69 (Suppl 1):61-9. 2297 135. Prades J, Borràs JM. Multidisciplinary cancer care in Spain, or when the 2298 functions creates the organ: qualitative interview study. BMC Public Health. 2011 Feb 28; 11:141.doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-141. 2299 2300 PSQCWG. Activities of the patient safety and quality of care working group. 136. 2301 http://ec.europa.eu/health/patient\_safety/events/index\_en.htm

- 2302 137. Quaschning K, Körner M, Wirtz M. Analyzing the effects of shared decision-2303 making, empathy and team interaction on patient satisfaction and treatment 2304 acceptance in medical rehabilitation using a structural equation modelling 2305 Educ Conns. 2013 91(2):167approach. Patient May; 2306 75.doi:10.1016/j.pec.2012.12.007.
- 2307 138. Rademakers J, Delnoij D, de Noer D. Structure, process or outcome: which
  2308 contributes most to patients' overall assessment of healthcare quality? BMJ
  2309 Qual Saf 2011,20:326.31.
- Rao M, Clarke A, Sanderson C, Hamersley R. Patient's own assessments of
  quality of primary care compared with objective records based measures of
  technical quality of care: cross sectional study. BMJ 2006,333,19.
- 2313140.Rebasa P, Mora L, Luna A, Montmany S, Vallverdu H, Navarro S: Continuous2314monitoring of adverse events: influence on the quality of care and teh2315incidence of errors in general surgery. World J Surg. 2009;33:191-198.
- 2316141. Redfern E, Brown R, Vincent CA. Improving communication in the emergency2317department. Emerg Med J 2009 Sep; 26(9): 658-61. doi:231810.1136/emj.2008.065623.
- 2319 142. Reflection Paper on Quality of Healhtcare: Policy actions at EU level. Version 3.2320 March 2010.
- 2321143. Regulation (EU) nº 1025/2012 of the European Parliament and the Council of232225 October 2012 on European standardisation.
- 2323144.Risso-Gill, I., H. Legido-Quigley, et al. (2014). "Assessing the role of2324regulatory bodies in managing health professional issues and errors in2325Europe." Int J Qual Health Care (in press).
- 2326145.Rosenmöller, M., M. McKee, et al., Eds. (2006). Patient Mobility in the2327European Union: learning from experience. Brussels, European Observatory on2328Health Systems and Policies.
- 2329146.Rowe, A. and M. García-Barbero (2005). Regulation and licensing of physicians2330in the WHO European Region. Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- 2331147. RVZ (Council for Public Health and Health Care). Perspective of Health 20/20.2332Council for Public Health and Health Care. The Hague, The Netherlands, 2010.
- 2333148.Saliba, V., H. Legido-Quigley, et al. (2012). "Telemedicine across borders: a2334systematic review of factors that hinder or support implementation." Int J Med2335Inform 81(12): 793-809.
- 2336 149. Saliba, V., N. A. Muscat, et al. (2014). "Clinicians', policy makers' and patients'
  views of pediatric cross-border care between Malta and the UK." J Health Serv
  Res Policy.

- 2339 150. San Miguel, L., R. Baeten, et al. (2013). "Obstacles to the recognition of
  2340 medical prescriptions issued in one EU country and presented in another." Eur
  2341 J Public Health 23(6): 972-974.
- 2342 151. Santoro A, Silenzi A, Ricciardi W, McKee M. Obtaining health care in another
  2343 European Union Member State: how easy is it to find relevant information? Eur
  2344 J Publ Health (in press).
- 2345 152. Schnoor M et al. Development and evaluation of an implementation strategy
  2346 for the German Guideline on community-acquired pneumonia. Qual Saf health
  2347 care 2010 Dec; 19(6): 498-502.doi: 10/1136/qshc.2008.029629.
- 2348153.Schoenfelder T(1), Klewer J, Kugler J. Determinants of patient satisfaction: a2349study among 39 hospitals in an in-patient setting in Germany. Int J Qual2350Health Care. 2011 Oct;23(5):503-9. doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzr038.
- 2351 154. Scholten, J. H. G., van Weel, C., & World Organization of National Colleges, A.
  2352 a. A. A. o. G. P. F. P. R. a. C. C. (1992). Functional Status Assessment in
  2353 Family Practice: The Dartmouth COOP Functional Health Assessment
  2354 Charts/WONCA. Meditekst.
- 2355 155. Schreyögg J, Stargardt T, Velasco-Garrido M, Busse R. Defining the "Health
  2356 Benefit Basket" in nine European countries. Evidence from the European Union
  2357 Health BASKET Project. Eur J Health Econ. 2005 Dec;Suppl:2-10.
- 2358156.Servicio Madrileño de Salud. Observatorio de Resultados. Informe de Atención2359Primaria. 2014-04-14.

2360 <u>http://observatorioresultados.sanidadmadrid.org/AtencionPrimariaLista.aspx</u>

- 2361157.Shi, L. Y., Starfield, B., & Xu, J. H. (2001). Validating the adult primary care2362assessment tool. Journal of Family Practice, 50, 161.
- 2363 158. Shih T, Nicholas LH, Thumma JR, Birkmeyer JD, Dimick JB. Does pay-for2364 performance improve surgical outcomes? An evaluation of phase 2 of the
  2365 Premier Hospital Quality Incentive Demonstration. Ann Surg. 2014
  2366 Apr;259(4):677-81.
- 2367 159. Shipman SA, Sinsky CA. Expanding primary care capacity by reducing waste
  and improving the efficiency of care. Health Aff (Millwood) 2013; 32(11):
  2369 1990-1997.
- 2370160.Siebes RC et al. Parent participation in paediatric rehabilitation treatment2371centres in the Netherlands: a parents' viewpoint. Child Care Health Dev. 20072372Mar; 33(2) 196-205.
- 2373 161. Smith SD, Newhouse JP, Freeland MS. Income, insurance, and technology:
  2374 Why does health spending outpace economic growth? Health Affairs 2009;
  2375 28(5): 1276-1284.

- 2376 162. Sociedad Española de Calidad Asistencial. Indicadores de Calidad para
  2377 hospitales del Sistema Nacional de Salud. 2011.
- 2378 163. Spencer J et al. Can patients be teachers? Involving patients and service users
  2379 in healthcare professionals' education. The Health Foundation. 2011.
- 2380 164. Starfield, B., Shi, L. Y., & Macinko, J. (2005). Contribution of primary care to
  2381 health systems and health. Milbank Quarterly, 83, 457-502.
- 2382 165. Stewart et al. The patient-centred medicine. Transforming the clinical method.2383 2nd edition. Oxford: Radclife Medical Press. 2003.
- 2384166.Stille, C. J., Jerant, A. F., Bell, D. F., Meltzer, D. F., & Elmore, J. G.2385Coordinating care across diseases, settings, and clinicians: a key role for the2386generalist in practice.
- 2387 167. Stuit M et al. Multi-view interaction modelling of human collaboration process:
  a business process study of head and neck cancer in a Dutch academic
  hospital. J Biomed Inform 2011 Dec; 44(6)1039-55.doi:
  10.1016/j.jbi.2011.08.007.
- 2391 168. Suhrcke M, Arce RS, McKee M, Rocco L. Economic costs of ill health in
  2392 European Region. In: Figueras J, McKee M, eds. Health Systems, Health,
  2393 Wealth and Societal Well-being. Maidenhead: Open University Press, 2012.
- 2394169.Suhrcke M, McKee M, Arce RS, Tsolova S, Mortensen J. Investment in health2395could be good for Europe's economies. BMJ. 2006 Nov 11;333(7576):1017-9.
- 2396 170. Suhrcke M, McKee M, Stuckler D, Sauto Arce R, Tsolova S, Mortensen J. The
  2397 contribution of health to the economy in the European Union. Public Health
  2398 2006; 120: 994-1001.
- 2399 171. Sunol R et al. 2014. Evidence-based organization and patient safety strategies
  2400 in European hospitals. International Journal for Quality in Health Care 2014;
  2401 pp 1-9.
- 2402 172. Swanson RC, Mosley H, Sanders D, Egilman D, De Maeseneer J, Chowdhury M,
  2403 Lanata CF, Dearden K, Bryant M. Call for global health-systems impact
  2404 assessments. Lancet. 2009 Aug 8;374(9688):433-5.
- 2405173. Tholin H, Forsberg A. Satisfaction with care and rehabilitation among people2406with stroke, from hospital to community care. Scand J Caring Sci. 2014 Feb24075.doi: 10.1111/scs.12116 [Epub ahead of print].
- 2408174.Uña E, López-Lara F. Pilot study of a clinical pathway implementation in rectal2409cancer. Clin Med Insights Oncol. 2010 Oct 12;4:11-5.doi: 10.4137/CMO.S4651
- 2410 175. Usher D. An imputation to the measure of economic growth for changes in life
  2411 expectancy. In: Moss M ed. The measurement of economic and social
  2412 performance. New York. Columbia University Press for National Bureau of
  2413 Economic Research. 1973.

- 2414 176. Van Dam PA et al. A dynamic clinical pathway for the treatment of patients
  2415 with early breast cancer is a tool for better cancer care: implementation and
  2416 prospective analysis between 2002-2010. World J Surg Oncol. 2013 Mar 16;
  2417 11:70.doi: 10.1186/1477-7819-11-70.
- 2418 177. Van Doorslaer E and T van Ourti, Measurement of inequality and inequity in
  2419 health and health care, In: Glied, S and PC Smith (Eds) Oxford Handbook of
  2420 Health Economics, Oxford University Press, 2011, 837-869.
- 2421 178. Van der Mussele H et al. Improving quality of electronic data registration for
  2422 clinical pathways at the regional hospital Sint Augustinus Antwerp (Flanders2423 Belgium): A case study. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2006; 122:587-90.
- 2424179.Van Driel M, Christiaens T, De Maeseneer J (2001). Evidence based medicine2425and the patient's perspective. Eur J Gen Pract; 7:4-5.
- 2426 180. Van Houdt S et al. Care pathways across the primary-hospital care continuum:
  2427 using the multi-level framework in explaining care coordination. BMC Health
  2428 Serv Res. 2013 Aug 6; 13: 296.doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-13-296.
- 2429
   181. Van Weel, C. (2001). Examination of context of medicine. The Lancet, 357,

   2430
   733-734.
- 2431 182. Veerbeek L et al. Enhancing the quality of care for patients with breast cancer:
  2432 seven years of experience with a Dutch auditing system. Eur J Surg Oncol.
  2433 2011 Aug; 37(8): 714-8.doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2011.03.003.
- 2434 183. Verhaak, P. F., Brink-Muinen, A. F., Bensing JM FAU Gask, L., & Gask, L.
  2435 Demand and supply for psychological help in general practice in different
  2436 European countries: access to primary mental health care in six European
  2437 countries.
- 2438184.Verhoeven F et al. The contribution of teleconsultation and videoconferencing2439to diabetes care: a systematic literature review. J Med Internet Res. 2007 Dec244014; 9 (5): e37.
- 2441185. Vincent Ch et al. The measurement and monitoring of safety. The Health2442Foundation. London. 2013.
- 2443186.Võrk A, J Saluse and J Habicht (2009), Income-related inequality in health2444care financing and utilization in Estonia 2000–2007, Copenhagen: WHO2445Regional Office for Europe.
- 2446187.Wagstaff, A. and van Doorslaer, E. (2003) Catastrophe and impoverishment in2447paying for health care: with applications to Vietnam 1993-1998, Health2448Economics, 12(11): 921-34.
- 2449188.Walshe K, McKee M, McCarthy M, Groenewegen P, Hansen J, Figueras J,2450Ricciardi W. Health systems and policy research in Europe: Horizon 2020. The

- 2451Lancet, Volume 382, Issue 9893, Pages 668 669, 24 August 20132452doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62195-3.
- 2453 189. Wensing, M., Mainz, J., & Grol, R. (2000). A standardised instrument for
  2454 patient evaluations of general practice care in Europe. European Journal of
  2455 General Practice, 6, 82-87.
- 2456190. Whitehead M. 1990. The Concepts and Principles of Equity in Health.2457Copenhagen: WHO, Reg. Off. Eur. (EUR/ICP/RPD 414 7734r). 29 pp.
- 2458191.WHO (2000).The World health report 2000:Health systems: improving2459performance Geneva:WHO.
- 2460192.WHO (2014). European Health For All Database (HFA-DB). World Health2461Organization Regional Office for Europe. Updated: April 2012.2462<a href="http://data.euro.who.int/hfadb/">http://data.euro.who.int/hfadb/</a>
- 2463193.WHO. Regional Office for Europe. Guidance on developing quality and safety2464strategies with a health system approach. 2008.
- 2465 194. Williams SK, Osborn SS. The development of the National Reporting and
  2466 Learning System in England and Wales, 2001-2005. Med J Aust. 2006 May 15;
  2467 184 (10 Suppl): S65-8.
- 2468 195. Xu, K., Evans, D., Kawabata, K., Zeramdini, R., Klavus, J., Murray, C. (2003a)
  2469 Household catastrophic health expenditure: a multicountry analysis, Lancet,
  2470 362(9378):111-7.
- 2471196. Xyrichis, A. & Lowton, K. What fosters or prevents interprofessional2472teamworking in primary and community care? A literature review.
- 2473197. Zegers M et al. Quality of patient record keeping: an indicator of the quality of2474care?BMJQualSaf.2011Apr;20(4):314-247518.doi:10.1136/bmjqs.2009.038976.

2476 2477

2478 2479

2480

2481

2482 2483

2484

2485

#### 2486 **6. GLOSSARY**

ACCEPTABILITY: how humanely and considerately the treatment is delivered (Ref. The European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Assuring the Quality of Health Care in the European Union. A case for action. Observatory Studies Series No 12. World Health Organisation 2008, on behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies)

ACCESS (TO CARE): the proportion of a given population in need of health services that can obtain them (Ref. The European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Assuring the Quality of Health Care in the European Union. A case for action. Observatory Studies Series No 12. World Health Organisation 2008, on behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies)

ACCOUNTABILITY: the core concept of accountability is answerability: that is, being
obligated to answer questions about decisions and/or actions (Ref. Brinkerhoff DW, 2004.
Accountability and health systems: towards conceptual clarity and policy relevance.
Health Policy and Planning, 19(6):371–379.).

APPROPRIATENESS: how the treatment corresponds to the needs of the patient (Ref. The European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Assuring the Quality of Health Care in the European Union. A case for action. Observatory Studies Series No 12. World Health Organisation 2008, on behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies)

ASSESSMENT: refers to the degree to which effective health care has been implemented and achieved and results have been attained (Ref. Council of Europe (1998). The development and implementation of quality improvement systems (QIS) in health care -Recommendation No. R (97) 17 and explanatory memorandum (1998)

2511 **CENTREDNESS (patient-centredness or patient responsiveness)**<sup>16</sup>: consideration 2512 of individual patients' and society's preferences and values (Ref. The European 2513 Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Assuring the Quality of Health Care in the 2514 European Union. A case for action. Observatory Studies Series No 12. World Health 2515 Organisation 2008, on behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and 2516 Policies).

2517 CONTINUITY OF CARE: the connectedness between stages along the patient pathway
2518 (Ref. The European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Assuring the Quality of
2519 Health Care in the European Union. A case for action. Observatory Studies Series No 12.
2520 World Health Organisation 2008, on behalf of the European Observatory on Health
2521 Systems and Policies)

2522 **COST-BENEFIT ANALYSIS**: is one form of economic evaluation that takes into account 2523 the major economic costs and benefits expressed in monetary units, and assessed from a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> A more comprehensive definition needs to be designed, considering the multi-faceted approach of patients' needs and preferences, which would include the partnership with patients and carers, consideration of patients' experience of care and their empowerment, delivery of effective care by professionals, and would place the empathy/compassion (dignity) as a core element.

societal perspective (Ref Drummond, M.F., O'Brien, B., Stoddart, G.L., and Torrance,
G.W., 1997. Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes (2nd ed.),
Oxford University Press, Oxford; Mishan, E., 1975. Cost Benefit Analysis (2nd ed.), Allen
and Unwin, London).

**COST-EFFECTIVENESS ANALYSIS:** is one form of economic evaluation that compares 2528 2529 the economic costs with the benefits expressed in "natural" units. The units expressed 2530 are particular to a specific sector; for the case of health interventions, health benefits are 2531 expressed in units such as health episodes, deaths, or disability-adjusted life-years averted [Drummond, M.F., O'Brien, B., Stoddart, G.L., and Torrance, G.W., 1997. 2532 2533 Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes (2nd ed.), Oxford 2534 University Press, Oxford; Gold, M.R., Siegel, J.E., Russell, L.B., and Weinstein, M.C., 2535 1996. Cost-effectiveness in Health and Medicine, Oxford University Press, Oxford.; Tan-2536 Torres Edejer, T., Baltussen, R., Adam, T., Hutubessy, R., Acharya, A., Evans, D.B., Murray, C.J.L., 2003. Making Choices in Health: WHO Guide to Cost-effectiveness 2537 2538 Analysis, World Health Organisation, Geneva].

2539 **COST-UTILITY ANALYSIS:** when alternative interventions produce different levels of 2540 effect in terms of both quantity and quality of life (or different effects), the effects may 2541 be expressed in utilities. Utilities are measures which comprise both length of life and 2542 subjective levels of well-being. The best known utility measure is the quality-adjusted life 2543 year, or QALY. Alternative interventions are compared in terms of cost per unit of utility 2544 gained (e.g. cost per QALY) [Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for 2545 Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane 2546 Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.]

2547 **EFFECTIVENESS**: effectiveness refers to the extent to which the intervention in question produces the intended effects (Maxwell 1992; Witter and Ensor 1997)

**EFFICACY**: efficacy constitutes for the individuals in a defined population the probable benefit of a given medical technique for a specific medical problem, in ideal circumstances, and as such is a rather more limited element of effectiveness (Ref. Council of Europe (1997). The development and implementation of quality improvement systems (QIS) in health care - Recommendation No. R (97) 17 and explanatory memorandum (1998).

- 2555 **EFFICIENCY**: efficiency refers to the extent to which objectives are achieved by 2556 minimizing the use of resources (WHO 2000)
- EMPOWERMENT (for health): In health promotion, empowerment is a process through
   which people gain greater control over decisions and actions affecting their health (The
   WHO Health Promotion Glossary at www.who.int/healthpromotion/about/HPG/en/)
- 2560 **ENOPE**: European Network on Patient Empowerment (<u>www.enope.eu</u>)

**EQUITY**: the extent to which individuals receive more care than others, reflecting differences in their ability to benefit or in their particular needs (Ref. The European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Assuring the Quality of Health Care in the European Union. A case for action. Observatory Studies Series No 12. World Health Organisation 2008, on behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies) **EVIDENCE-BASED**: Evidence-based medicine is the integration of best research evidence with clinical expertise and patient values (Ref. Sackett D et al. Evidence-Based Medicine: How to Practice and Teach EBM, 2nd edition. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, 2000, p.1)

FINANCIAL PROTECTION: The extent to which people who need health services areable to get them without undue financial hardship (WHO World Health Report 2010)

**GUIDELINE (clinical practice)**: Clinical practice guidelines are statements that include recommendations intended to optimize patient care that are informed by a systematic review of evidence and an assessment of the benefits and harms of alternative care options (Ref. Institute of Medicine. Graham R, Mancher M, Wolman DM, Greenfield S, Steinberg E, editor(s). Clinical practice guidelines we can trust. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2011. 2p)

HEALTH TECHNOLOGY ASSESSMENT (HTA): a multidisciplinary field of policy
analysis, studying the medical, economic, social and ethical implications of development,
diffusion and use of health technology (Ref. INAHTA -International Network of Agencies
for Health Technology Assessment, HTA Resources. 2009).

2583 **INDICATOR** (health): a health indicator is a characteristic of an individual, population, 2584 or environment which is subject to measurement (directly or indirectly) and can be used 2585 to describe one or more aspects of the health of an individual or population (quality, 2586 quantity and time). (Ref. The WHO Health Promotion Glossary at 2587 www.who.int/healthpromotion/about/HPG/en/)

2588 **OUTCOME (health)**: A change in the health status of an individual, group or population 2589 which is attributable to a planned intervention or series of interventions, regardless of 2590 whether such an intervention was intended to change health status (Ref. The WHO 2591 Health Promotion Glossary at <u>www.who.int/healthpromotion/about/HPG/en/</u>)

2592 **PASQ**: European Union Network for Patient Safety and Quality of Care (<u>www.pasq.eu</u>)

PATIENT SAFETY: patient safety refers to freedom from accidental or preventable
 injuries produced by medical care. Thus, practices or interventions that improve patient
 safety are those that reduce the occurrence of preventable adverse events (Ref. AHRQ
 PSNet Patient Safety Network. Patient safety <a href="http://psnet.ahrq.gov/glossary.aspx#P">http://psnet.ahrq.gov/glossary.aspx#P</a>)

POLICY (health): A formal statement or procedure within institutions (notably
 government) which defines priorities and the parameters for action in response to health
 needs, available resources and other political pressures (Ref. The WHO Health Promotion
 Glossary at www.who.int/healthpromotion/about/HPG/en/)

PROCESS (of care): it refers to a "set of activities that go on within and between
 practitioner and patient" (Ref. Mark, B.A., Salyer, J. & Geddes, N. (1997). Outcomes
 research: Clues to quality and organisational effectiveness? Outcomes Measurement and
 Management, 32(3), 589- 601).

2605 **QUALITY (of care)**: Health care that uses the available and appropriate resources in an 2606 efficient way to equitably contribute to the improvement of the health of the populations 2607 and patients. This implies that provision of care is consistent with current professional knowledge, focuses on the needs and goals of individuals, their families and communities, prevents and avoid harm related to care, and involves persons/patients as key partners in the process of care (EXPH, 2014).

RELEVANCE: it refers to the optimal overall pattern and balance of services that could
be achieved, taking into account the needs and wants of the population as a whole (Ref.
Maxwell, R (1992). Dimensions of quality revisited: from thought to action. Quality in
Health Care, (1):171–177)

SAFETY: "freedom from accidental injury due to medical care, or medical errors (Kohn,Corrigan and Donaldson 2000)

SATISFACTION: how the treatment and the improvement in the patient's health meets
her/his expectations (Ref. The European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies.
Assuring the Quality of Health Care in the European Union. A case for action. Observatory
Studies Series No 12. World Health Organisation 2008, on behalf of the European
Observatory on Health Systems and Policies)

**STEWARDSHIP**: sometimes more narrowly defined as governance. It refers to the wide range of functions carried out by governments as they seek to achieve national health policy objectives. In addition to improving overall levels of population health, objectives are likely to be framed in terms of equity, coverage, access, quality, and patients' rights. National policy may also define the relative roles and responsibilities of the public, private and voluntary sectors - as well as civil society - in the provision and financing of health care (Ref. <u>http://www.who.int/healthsystems/stewardship/en/</u>)

STRUCTURE (of care): it involves the "relatively stable characteristics of the providers
of care, of the tools and resources they have at their disposal, and of the physical and
organisational settings in which they work" (Ref. Mark, B.A., Salyer, J. & Geddes, N.
(1997). Outcomes research: Clues to quality and organizational effectiveness? Outcomes
Measurement and Management, 32(3), 589- 601)

TIMELINESS: receiving treatment within a reasonable time frame (Ref. The European
Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Assuring the Quality of Health Care in the
European Union. A case for action. Observatory Studies Series No 12. World Health
Organisation 2008, on behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and
Policies)

**TRANSPARENCY (health care)**: The health care system should make information available to patients and their families that allows them to make informed decisions when selecting a health plan, hospital, or clinical practice, or choosing among alternative treatments. This should include information describing the system's performance on safety, evidence-based practice, and patient satisfaction (Ref. Institute of Medicine. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the Twenty-First Century. National Academies Press. 2001)

2646

2647

2648

#### 2649 **ANNEXES**

#### 2650 FULL LIST OF INDICATORS

### 2651 Underlined indicators are those chosen by the Panel Experts.

Process	Appropriateness	Presence of programs guaranteeing the quality of infrastructure and equipment
Process	Appropriateness	Organisation of services guarantees enough time to offer a high guality service
PIOCESS	Appropriateness	
Process	Appropriateness	Proportion of professionals that attend continuing education programmes in a regular base: including patient safety
Process	Appropriateness	Proportion of professional with access to medical Evidence-Based information, and training to benefit from their use
Process	Appropriateness	Proportion of professionals that use appropriate clinical guidelines
Process	Appropriateness	Proportion of professionals that participate in the development of clinical pathways
Process	Appropriateness	Inequalities in doctor consultations
Process	Appropriateness	Screening for cancer (cervical, breast, colorectal)
Process	Appropriateness	Unmet care needs by income level
Process	Appropriateness	Consultation skipped due to costs
Process	Appropriateness	Medical tests, treatment of follow up skipped due to costs
Process	Appropriateness	Prescribed medicines skipped due to costs
Process	Appropriateness	Inequalities in dentist consultations
Process	Appropriateness	Inequalities in cancer screening
Process	Appropriateness	In-hospital mortality following acute myocardial infarction
Process	Appropriateness	In-hospital mortality following stroke
Process	Appropriateness	Adequate control and treatment of pain
Process	Appropriateness	Average time dedicated per specialist consultation
Process	Appropriateness	Average length of stay
Process	Appropriateness	Caesarean sections rate
Process	Appropriateness	Electronic medical records adequately performed
Process	Appropriateness	Systematic discussion of clinical cases by responsible team
Process	Appropriateness	Proportion of Health Care centres / professionals activities assessed through systematic processes
Process	Appropriateness	Proportion of centres/professionals that adhere to appropriate clinical guidelines (up-to-date evidence based)

Process	Appropriateness	Presence of enough well trained and motivated professionals
Process	Appropriateness	Vaccination against DTP, measles, hepatitis B, children aged 1
Process	Appropriateness	Influenza vaccination for older people, 65 and over
Process	Appropriateness	Health promotion habits in childhood, coverage of programs (primary care)
Process	Appropriateness	Health problems detection in adults, coverage of programs (primary care)
Process	Appropriateness	Total volume of antibiotics
Process	Appropriateness	Volume of quinolones and cephalosporines as proportion of all antibiotics
Process	Appropriateness	Nursing care plans in the assigned population
Process	Appropriateness	Diabetic patients with good control
Process	Appropriateness	Hypertensive patients with good control
Process	Appropriateness	(Regular) doctor spending enough time with patients during the consultation
Process	Appropriateness	Electronic medical records adequately performed
Process	Appropriateness	Waiting time for planned PC
Process	Appropriateness	% of patients who are able to get appointment with GP within 2 days.
Process	Appropriateness	Waiting time for Tests/complementary diagnostic procedures
Process	Appropriateness	Percentage of patients seen within 4 weeks from GP referral
Process	Appropriateness	Percentage of patients waiting 3 months or more for planned surgery
Process	Appropriateness	Waiting time for cataract surgery
Process	Appropriateness	Waiting time for hip replacement
Process	Appropriateness	Waiting time for knee replacement
Process	Patient safety	Exchange of knowledge, experience and good practice in patient safety
Process	Patient safety	Guides on education and training of health professionals in patient safety, and on effective setting up and functioning of reporting and learning systems
Process	Patient safety	Countries that have developed research programmes on patient safety
Process	Patient safety	Projects funded by EU
Process	Patient safety	Compatibility and comparability of information between EU MS
Process	Patient safety	Presence of patient safety education and training programs in health care settings
Process	Patient safety	Presence of patient safety education and training programs in health care settings for all personnel involved
Process	Patient safety	Proportion of institutions with training programs
Process	Patient safety	Proportion of personnel trained

Process	Patient safety	Proportion of undergraduate programs (for doctors and nurses) that include patient safety
Process	Patient safety	Proportion of postgraduate programs that include patient safety
Process	Patient safety	Education and training on patient safety formally required in health care institutions
Process	Patient safety	Hand washing
Process	Patient safety	Decubitus ulcer
Process	Patient safety	Establishment and functioning of an adverse events information system
Process	Patient safety	Compatibility and comparability of information within the country
Process	Patient safety	Establishment and functioning of blame-free reporting systems
Process	Patient safety	Opportunities for patients and other caregivers to report their experiences identifying threats to safety
Process	Patient safety	Complain and redress procedures clearly established
Process	Patient safety	Systematic use of the information to prevent/ameliorate safety risks and unjustified events
Process	Patient safety	Assessment of suicidal risks in patient with mental disorders
Process	Patient safety	Obstetric trauma
Process	Patient safety	Birth trauma
Process	Patient safety	Admission of full-term babies to neonatal care
Process	Patient safety	Incidence of harm to children due to failure to monitor
Process	Patient safety	Misidentification of patients
Process	Patient safety	Intravenous administration of epidural medication
Process	Patient safety	Complications of anesthesia
Process	Patient safety	Doctors dealing with missing clinical information (proportion per patients seen)
Process	Patient safety	Missing of faulty equipment (proportion per operations performed)
Process	Patient safety	Percentage of impatient risk assessment completed and linked to care plan
Process	Patient safety	Falls for unrestricted windows
Process	Patient safety	Postoperative pulmonary embolism or deep vein thrombosis in adults
Process	Patient safety	Postoperative hip fracture
Process	Patient safety	Foreign body left in during procedure
Process	Patient safety	Patient strategies or programs in place
Process	Patient safety	Presence of competent authorities and bodies designed
Process	Patient safety	Presence of health quality improvement organisations, with appropriate means and methodologies
Process	Patient safety	Organisation regularly assessed on the issue of developing safety culture

Process	Patient safety	Establisment of safety standards on the territory
Process	Patient safety	Application of safety guidelines
Process	Patient safety	Development of specific programs to assess and reduce unjustified variation
Process	Patient safety	Medication error
Process	Patient safety	Intravenous drug administration errors
Process	Patient safety	Non-intravenous drug administration error
Process	Patient safety	Infections due to medical care
Process	Patient safety	Postoperative sepsis in adults
Process	Patient-Centredness	Patient experiences take into account (captured through feedback system and used as learning and improvement resource)
Process	Patient-Centredness	Presence of effective communications between providers and patients
Process	Patient-Centredness	Proportion of (users/persons) satisfied with the received information
Process	Patient-Centredness	Access of patients to medical records authorised and free of charge
Process	Patient-Centredness	Evidence that a mechanism to capture patients' and families/ carers' feedback is in place and is used as learning and improvement resource
Process	Patient-Centredness	Proportion of Patients ' (persons) with acceptable knowledge about quality (including patient safety) standards and guidelines in country of residence and other EU countries
Process	Patient-Centredness	Percentage of patients who feel they were treated with respect in their health care system/ organisation interaction
Process	Patient-Centredness	Information available for every interested person
Process	Patient-Centredness	Care providers guarantee the optimal care when different providers are needed
Process	Patient-Centredness	Presence of means of communication between levels (e-mail, phone, meetings)
Process	Patient-Centredness	Regular use of means of communication between levels
Process	Patient-Centredness	Proportion of patients who declared they were given the right amount of easily understandable information to enable them to participate actively in medical decisions
Process	Patient-Centredness	Proportion of patients and families who are able to comprehend the information and instructions given to them in relation to discharge of transfer to other care institutions
Process	Patient-Centredness	Presence of available ways of communication with the patient (e-mail, phone, video)
Process	Patient-Centredness	Regular use of ways of communication with the patient
Process	Patient-Centredness	Presence of protocols for coordination between levels/centres/professionals, and adequate means to do that (including time)

Process	Patient-Centredness	Presence of effective reference systems in place
Process	Patient-Centredness	Electronic medical records compatible between centres/institutions/countries
Process	Patient-Centredness	Presence of experiences of integrated care (primary care, hospital care, social care)
Process	Patient-Centredness	Patients/citizens actively participate in their care
Process	Patient-Centredness	Proportion of patients/families who experience the care process as being "joined up" according to their needs
Process	Patient-Centredness	Meaningful informed consent properly regulated
Process	Patient-Centredness	Presence of education and training programs for patients to help them participate in decisions related to their health/care, and for training patients in self-management of chronic conditions
Process	Patient-Centredness	Proportion of patients/clients with chronic conditions who actively participate in the development of a treatment plan with their health care provider
Process	Patient-Centredness	Presence of training programs for health professionals aimed to involve patients in all decisions about care and treatment
Process	Patient-Centredness	People/patient rational use of service
Process	Patient-Centredness	Possibility of choice between practitioners, centres, etc.
Process	Patient-Centredness	Assessment of availability of professional-led, or peer-led, education/training programmes for patients to enable them participate in decisions relating to their health and care, and to support self-management of chronic conditions
Process	Patient-Centredness	Proportion of children whose parents routinely received all aspects of family centred care
Process	Patient-Centredness	Patient and Patient Organisations meaningful participation in planning, management and regulation of health services
Process	Patient-Centredness	Patients ' organisations actively participating in health related policy-making at all levels
Process	Patient-Centredness	Proportion of population considering health services (health system) function well or very well
Process	Patient-Centredness	Proportion of patients considering their care (primary care, hospital, etc.) has been good of very good
Process	Patient-Centredness	Proportion of patients satisfied with each aspect of the services provided
Outcome	Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions	Proportion of patients that feel supported to manage their chronic condition in a national/European patient survey
Outcome	Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions Enhancing quality of life for	Employment of people with long-term conditions
Outcome	people with long-term conditions	Emergency-based hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions

Outcome	Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions	Emergency-based hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in under 19s
Outcome	Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions	Health-related quality of life of carers
Outcome	Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions	Employment of people with mental illness
Outcome	Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions	Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia
Outcome	Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions	A measure of effectiveness of post-diagnosis care in sustaining independence and improving quality of life
Outcome	Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care	Friends and family test (Would you recommend this service to friends and family?
Outcome	Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care	Patients experience of service/care with FFT
Outcome	Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care	Patient experience of hospital care
Outcome	Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care	Patient experience of outpatient services
Outcome	Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care	Patient experience of accident and emergency services
Outcome	Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care	Patient experience of primary care services
Outcome	Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care	Women's experience of maternity services
Outcome	Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care	Bereaved carers' views on the quality of care in the last 3 months of life

Outcome	Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care	Patient experience of community mental health services
Outcome	Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care	Children and young people's experience of outpatient services
Outcome	Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care	Responsiveness to in-patients' personal needs
Outcome	Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury	Emergency admissions within 30 days of discharge from hospital
Outcome	Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury	Total health gain as assessed by patients for elective procedures (hip replacement, knee replacement, cholecystectomy, cataract surgery)
Outcome	Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury	Emergency admissions for children with LRTI
Outcome	Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury	Functionality independence measure at discharge and 6 months after severe trauma
Outcome	Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury	Functionality independence measure at discharge and 6 months after stroke
Outcome	Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury	Functionality independence measure at discharge and 6 months after fragility fracture
Outcome	Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury	Proportion of stroke patients reporting improvement in activity/lifestyle on the Modified Rankin Scale at 6 months

Outcome	Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury	Proportion of patients recovering to their previous level of mobility/walking ability at 30 and 120 days
Outcome	Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury	Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were at home at 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation service
Outcome	Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury	Proportion of elderly patients (over 75 years) who are offered rehabilitation following discharge from acute or community hospital
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Potential years of life lost from causes considered amenable to health care
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Life expectancy at 75 years of age
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Mortality rate from cardiovascular disease in people under 70 years of age
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Mortality rate from respiratory disease in people under 70 years of age
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Mortality rate from liver disease in people under 70 years of age
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Mortality rate from cancer in people under 70 years of age
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Five year survival from all cancers
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Five year survival from breast, lung and colorectal cancer
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Infant mortality
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Neonatal mortality

Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Five year survival from all cancers in children (under 15 years of age)
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Mortality rate in people under 60 years of age with a learning disability
Outcome	Preventing people from dying prematurely	Mortality rate in people under 70 years of age, who have a diagnosis of a serious mental illness
Outcome	Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm	Patient safety incidents reported
Outcome	Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm	Safety incidents involving severe harm or death
Outcome	Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm	Hospital deaths and the hospital deaths attributable to problems in care
Outcome	Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm	Deaths from venous thromboembolism (VTE) related events
Outcome	Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm	Proportion of patients with category 2, 3 and 4 pressure ulcers
Outcome	Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm	Admission of full-term babies to neonatal care
Outcome	Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm	Incidence of harm to children due to 'failure to monitor'
Outcome	Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm	Incidence of health care associated infection (HCAI) (MRSA, C. difficile)

Outcome	Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm	Incidence of medication errors causing serious harm
Economics	Macro level	Health care expenditure; per capita; percentage of GDP (€PPP)
Economics	Macro level	Public health care expenditure: per capita, as a percentage of total health spending, as a percentage of public spending, as a percentage of GDP
Economics	Macro level	Private health care expenditure: OOPs as a percentage of total health spending
Economics	Macro level	Private health care expenditure; per capita; percentage of GDP
Economics	Macro level	Pharmaceutical expenditure; per capita; percentage of GDP
Economics	Macro level	Break down per sector/disease
Economics	Macro level	Finance mix
Economics	Macro level	Process: good accounting practice - NHA
Economics	Macro level	Gini-coefficient Gini-c
Economics	Macro level	Distribution of health financing mechanisms (Kakwani index)
Economics	Macro level	Incidence and distribution of catastrophic and impoverishing OOP payments
Economics	Macro level	Benefit incidence analysis
Economics	Meso level	Degree of integration health, welfare, housing, employment
Economics	Meso level	Performance to link patient-related information across the different levels, sectors, organisations and providers

- Methodology for process indicator: a widely accepted methodology is not available for any of the indicators selected, therefore further work needs to be undertaken, in terms of agreeing a set of indicators and developing the methodology to collect and analyse them. However, the starting point can be the work of the Picker Institute for NHS and the Quality for patient experience in adult NHS services, as well as other possible resources, some mentioned in the list of references. It is essential that patients through their representative organisations are involved in developing the indicators and methodology.
- 2659

2660 Methodology for outcome indicators: the outcome indicators are based on the indicators used 2661 by the English NHS that were compared to list of indicators collected as the background material. 2662 The indicators, their availability and modifications were then discussed in the Working Group 2663 meetings.

- 2664
- 2665 **Methodology for economic indicators**